Adaptation of interventions for implementation and/or re-evaluation in new contexts: The ADAPT guidance (v1.0)

Graham Moore¹, Mhairi Campbell², Lauren Copeland¹, Peter Craig², Ani Movsisyan³⁴, Pat Hoddinott⁵, Hannah Littlecott¹, Alicia O'Cathain⁶, Lisa Pfadenhauer³⁴, Eva Rehfuess³⁴, Jeremy Segrott⁷, Penelope Hawe⁸⁹, Frank Kee¹⁰, Danielle Couturiaux¹, Britt Hallingberg^{1, 11}, Rhiannon Evans¹

1 Centre for Development, Evaluation, Complexity and Implementation in Public Health improvement (DECIPHer), School of Social Sciences, Cardiff University, Wales, UK

2 MRC/CSO Social and Public Health Sciences Unit, University of Glasgow, Scotland, UK

3 Pettenkofer School of Public Health, LMU Munich, Germany

4 Institute for Medical Information Processing, Biometry and Epidemiology, LMU Munich, Germany

5 Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health Professional Research Unit, University of Stirling, Scotland, UK

6 School for Health And Related Research (ScHARR), University of Sheffield, England, UK

7 Centre for Development, Evaluation, Complexity and Implementation in Public Health improvement (DECIPHer), Centre for Trials Research, Cardiff University, Wales, UK

8 Menzies School of Health Policy, Sydney School of Public Health, University of Sydney, New South Wales, Australia;

9 O'Brien Institute of Public Health, University of Calgary, Canada

10 Centre for Public Health, Queens University Belfast, Northern Ireland, UK

11 School of Sport and Health Sciences, Cardiff Metropolitan University, Wales, UK

Funding

The ADAPT Study was funded by the MRC-NIHR Methodology Research Programme [MR/R013357/1]. The project was undertaken with the support of The Centre for the Development and Evaluation of Complex Interventions for Public Health Improvement (DECIPHer), a UKCRC Public Health Research Centre of Excellence. Joint funding (MR/K0232331/1) from the British Heart Foundation, Cancer Research UK, Economic and Social Research Council, Medical Research Council, the Welsh Government, and the Wellcome Trust, under the auspices of the UK Clinical Research Collaboration, is gratefully acknowledged. The study was also supported by its successor, the Centre for Development, Evaluation, Complexity and Implementation in Public Health improvement, funded by Health and Care Research Wales from 2020. Peter Craig and Mhairi Campbell receive funding from the UK Medical Research Council (MC_UU_12017-13) and the Scottish Government Chief Scientist Office (SPHSU13).

Acknowledgements

We thank the ADAPT Study management team which in addition to co-authors included Dr Laura Arnold, Prof Simon Murphy and Prof Laurence Moore and are grateful for the guidance of our study advisory group, which in addition to members who have contributed as authors, included Dr Andrew Booth, Prof Frances Gardner and Dr Julie Bishop. The Delphi exercise was undertaken using the RAND Corporation's ExpertLens system. We thank Dmitry Khodyakov for support with this element of the study. We are also grateful to colleagues who attended our expert workshops to discuss and provide feedback on an earlier full draft of the guidance (or sent written feedback outside of these meetings). These include Prof Cam Escoffery, Prof Russell Glasgow, Prof Sarah Skeen, Prof Dianne Ward, Prof Lucy Yardley, Dr Andrew Cook, Prof Francois Alla, Prof Ricardo Araya-Baltra, Dr Jamie Lachman, Prof Jane Noyes, Dr Chris Roberts, Dr Jemma Hawkins, Prof Katrina Wyatt, Dr Matt Egan, Prof Rob Anderson, Prof Peymane Adab, Prof Janice Thompson and Dr Katie Buston. We also thank anonymous members of our Delphi panel and qualitative interviewees. We are grateful to Lindsey Allan for administrative support.

Views expressed in this guidance are those of the authors. Acknowledgement of the contributions of other groups or individuals does not imply their endorsement of the guidance and its contents.

Corresponding authors: Prof Graham Moore (<u>MooreG@cardiff.ac.uk</u>) & Dr Rhiannon Evans (<u>EvansRE8@cardiff.ac.uk</u>)

Document citation: Graham Moore, Mhairi Campbell, Lauren Copeland, Peter Craig, Ani Movsisyan, Pat Hoddinott, Hannah Littlecott, Alicia O'Cathain, Lisa Pfadenhauer, Eva Rehfuess, Jeremy Segrott, Penelope Hawe, Frank Kee, Danielle Couturiaux, Britt Hallingberg, Rhiannon Evans (2020) Adaptation of interventions for implementation and/or re-evaluation in new contexts: The ADAPT Study guidance (v1.0). https://decipher.uk.net/portfolio/the-adapt-study/

This version of the guidance is made available while an abbreviated journal article is under review. This document may be updated following peer review of the associated journal article.

Table of contents

ADA CON	APTATION OF INTERVENTIONS FOR IMPLEMENTATION AND/OR RE-EVALUATION IN NEA NTEXTS: THE ADAPT GUIDANCE (V1.0)	N 1
FUN	IDING	2
ACK	NOWLEDGEMENTS	2
ТАВ	LE OF CONTENTS	3
ТАВ	LE OF FIGURES	5
ТАВ	LE OF TEXT BOXES	5
1.	AIMS AND OVERVIEW OF THIS DOCUMENT	6
2.	BACKGROUND	7
3.	HOW HAS THIS GUIDANCE BEEN DEVELOPED?	10
4.	DEFINITIONS OF TERMS AND AREAS OF ONGOING DEBATE	12
4.1.	Adaptation	14
4.2.	Population health intervention	15
4.3.	Evidence informed interventions	15
4.4.	Context	17
4.5.	Complex system	18
4.6.	Implementation	18
4.7.	Stakeholders	18
4.8.	Fidelity and integrity	19
5. One	MOTIVATIONS FOR ADAPTING AN INTERVENTION RATHER THAN DEVELOPING A NEW	21
6.	RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ADAPTING INTERVENTIONS FOR NEW CONTEXTS	23
6.1 6.1.1	Form an adaptation team group comprised of diverse stakeholders I Involve stakeholders early and throughout adaptation processes	28 28

6.1.2	Agree principles for decision making and involvement of members	28		
6.1.3	Consider pros and cons of working with original intervention developers	29		
6.1.4	4 Review and update membership of adaptation team as adaptation progresses			
6.2	Assess the rationale for intervention and consider intervention-context fit	31		
6.2.1	Define the problem in the target population	31		
6.2.2	2 Identify candidate interventions			
6.2.3	.2.3 Obtain detailed information on selection intervention and the contexts in which it has been			
ev	aluated	31		
6.2.4	Consider the robustness of effectiveness claims	32		
0.2.5	Consider intellectual property issues	54 20		
0.2.0	Consider Intellectual property issues	20		
6.3	Plan for and undertake adaptations	39		
6.3.1	Identify and respond to contextual constraints and facilitators	39		
6.3.2	Adapt intervention materials	40		
6.3.3	Consider potential for unintended consequences	41		
6.3.4	Consider costs and resources needed for the adapted intervention	42		
6.3.5	Recruit individuals and groups to deliver the intervention	42		
6.4	Plan for and undertake piloting and evaluation	43		
6.4.1	Consider the extent and type of evaluation warranted	43		
6.4.2	Consider the value of information to policymakers, practitioners, and other stakeholders	45		
6.4.3	Consider resources available for evaluation	45		
6.4.4	Evaluate feasibility and consider further adaptations based on feedback	46		
6.4.5	Document and classify responsive adaptations	46		
6.4.6	Undertake evaluation of effectiveness, cost-effectiveness and process (if warranted)	48		
6.5	Implement and maintain the adapted intervention at scale	49		
6.5.1	Build sustainable partnerships, capacity and plans for maintenance	49		
6.5.2	Establish data monitoring systems	50		
7. R	EPORT THE ADAPTED INTERVENTION	51		
7.1	Use existing guidelines	51		
		•-		
7.2	Describe the population health problem being addressed	52		
7.3	Describe the original intervention and its context and report its evidence base	52		
7.4	Describe the new context, and important similarities and differences to the original context	52		
7.5 stakeh	olders were involved	:n 52		
7.6	Describe the adapted intervention in detail to enable replication	53		
77	Describe how well the adapted intervention was delivered in the new context	52		
/./	beschive now wentile adapted intervention was delivered in the new context	22		
7.8	Describe the rationale for the type of re-evaluation undertaken in the new context	53		
7.9	Describe the role of original intervention developers in the adaptation	54		

8.	CONCLUSIONS	54
9.	REFERENCES	55
AP RA	PENDIX 1 - THE ADAPT GUIDANCE DELPHI EXERCISE ROUNDS 1 AND 3 SUMMARY OF ITE TINGS	M 63

APPENDIX 2 - MAPPING OF DELPHI CONSENSUS ITEMS ONTO FINAL RECOMMENDATIONS 73

Table of Figures

Figure 1. Guidance development process	12
Figure 2. ADAPT process model for adapting interventions for a new context. Yellow boxes=stag	ges of
ADAPT step-by-step guidance (see Box 3). Blue boxes=categories of potential conclusion from ϵ	each
stage. Directional arrows=recommendations for moving, forward or backward through ADAPT	stages
or exiting), on the basis of stage conclusions	25
Figure 3. MADI framework reproduced from Kirk et al 2020 (2020)	41
Figure 4. FRAME guidance, reproduced from Stirman et al.(2019)	51

Table of Text Boxes

Box 1. Key terms, and how this guidance uses them	13
Box 2. Sources of further guidance and discussion	14
Box 3. Adapting micro-, meso- and macro-level interventions	15
Box 4. Types of evidence which might already exist for an 'evidence-informed' intervention selected	d
for adaptation	16
Box 5. Fidelity, integrity and adaptation: an extended discussion	20
Box 6. A case example of intervention development based on adaptation of multiple interventions 2	22
Box 7. The ADAPT step-by-step guidance for adapting interventions for a new context	26
Box 8. Sources of additional reading relating to each guidance section	27
Box 9. Case examples relating to involvement of stakeholders in intervention adaptation	30
Box 10. Considerations in adapting an intervention for new context on which Delphi participants	
reached consensus:	34
Box 11. Some theories and frameworks for guiding thinking about similarity and difference in	
context	35
Box 12. Illustrative case examples for issues to think through in selecting an intervention for a new	
context	38
Box 13. Illustrative case examples for issues to think through in planning and undertaking	
adaptations	43
Box 14. Capturing and classifying responsive adaptations	47
Box 15. Case examples relating to evaluating interventions in a new context	48

1. Aims and overview of this document

A growing literature provides insights into which interventions work to improve population health. Using these beyond their original contexts may be more efficient than developing new interventions for each context. However, implementation and effects of interventions are often context dependent. Interventions transported without adaptation may be less effective than those adapted to achieve intervention-context fit. While the importance of appropriately adapting interventions is recognised, there is no overarching guidance for researchers, policymakers, practitioners, research funders and journal editors on how to adapt interventions. Where interventions fail to reproduce effects in a new context, it is hard to build understandings of why this was the case.

The ADAPT study has developed new guidance via 3 interconnected work packages, with advice and guidance from an international advisory group. We undertook ii) a systematic review of guidance and a scoping review of how people undertake and report adaptations ii) qualitative interviews with researchers, funders, journal editors and policy and practice stakeholders involved in intervention adaptation; iii) a 3-round modified e-Delphi exercise. Findings were synthesised into a draft of this guidance document, discussed at a series of online workshops with participants in our Delphi exercise, prior to finalising the guidance.

In this document, after introducing the background for development of guidance in Section 2, we provide detail on how this guidance was produced (Section 3). We then discuss key terms and debates identified in developing the guidance (Section 4). In Section 5 we discuss distinctions between intervention development and adaptation, and circumstances in which adaptation may be preferable to development of a new intervention (and vice versa). Section 6 then presents our new guidance on: forming an adaptation team; assessing the rationale for intervention and considering intervention-context fit; planning and undertaking adaptations; evaluating adapted interventions; implementing and maintaining adapted interventions. Adaptation is a rapidly growing area of inquiry. Hence, we signpost to emerging sources of guidance for specific issues covered here, much of which emerged alongside our study.

2. Background

Interest is growing in the adaptation of population health interventions for new contexts (Miller et al., 2020; Stirman et al., 2019; Escoffery et al., 2018). As evidence accumulates on which interventions work, implementing these in routine practice may ensure resource is invested in developing new interventions only where necessary. However, interventions commonly exhibit a degree of context-specificity (Pawson et al., 1997; Burchett et al., 2018; Bonell et al., 2012; Craig et al., 2018; Howarth et al., 2016; Pfadenhauer et al., 2017; Pfadenhauer et al., 2015). Population health problems are emergent products of interactions between human actors and institutions, whose interactions form 'complex systems' (i.e. sets of interconnected elements which form an indivisible whole and perform coherent functions). Complex systems include families, schools, and hospitals. These are in turn nested within higher-level community, health, and education systems. Interventions introduce change to these systems, such as altering how doctors interact with patients, or legislating a minimum alcohol price. In doing so, they attempt to disrupt interactions within and between systems, and produce better outcomes for individuals, and the population as a whole (Moore et al., 2019; Hawe et al., 2009; Bicket et al., 2020). Impacts of the same intervention may however differ according to system histories and starting points, at the time at which intervention is introduced.

Context-specificity is sometimes exaggerated; contextual contingencies for many interventions are relatively stable across time and space, meaning they do transfer well (Leijten et al., 2016). Overstating context-specificity can risk legitimising political decisions not to adopt evidenceinformed actions, by allowing actors to appeal to doubt regarding whether they will work here. However, as Davey and colleague have argued, the extent to which evaluations have to date informed decision-making beyond their original context has generally been greatest for interventions that are relatively simple, and less context dependent (Davey et al., 2018). While some 'transported' interventions show good effects (Leijten et al., 2016), many have been infeasible (Griffin et al., 2019), or ineffective in new contexts (Robling et al., 2016; Gorman, 2017). A 2016 meta-analysis found that interventions adopted without adaptation tended to be less effective than contextually adapted or locally developed interventions (Sundell et al., 2016). Growing interest in intervention adaptation, paralleled by growing literature on the role of context in intervention effects (Craig et al., 2018; Howarth et al., 2016; Pfadenhauer et al., 2017; Pfadenhauer et al., 2015; Moore et al., 2013), reflects recognition that carefully considering intervention-context fit may increase the likelihood of successful transfer (Miller et al., 2020; Stirman et al., 2019; Escoffery et al., 2018).

Transferability is often considered particularly uncertain when interventions are used in a new location, such as moving from higher to lower income countries, or vice versa. Much adaptation research also focuses on using interventions with different populations, or population sub-groups, within the same location (Kanamori et al., 2019). In the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, ongoing as this guidance was written, the changed context imposed by social distancing measures meant many previously feasible interventions could no longer be delivered. Many stakeholders adapted interventions from face-to-face to online delivery to achieve fit with this changed context (Greenhalgh et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020). Emphasis on history within systems perspectives draws attention to temporal dimensions of context (Hawe et al., 2009). For example, many interventions, if used today, will interact with a different technological context than in any evaluation only a few years ago (Michie et al., 2017). Given the well documented lag between generation of evidence and implementation in routine practice (Blair, 2014), intervention-context fit cannot always be taken for granted even where evidence was developed at an earlier point in the history of the same health, education or social care systems. As systems into which interventions are implemented continuously evolve, interventions may lose their impact unless they also continuously adapt (Kemp, 2020). As Horton and colleagues (2018) argue, reproducing interventions is not a passive process for local implementers, but involves distributed effort and substantial creativity and reinvention Hence, adaptation is typically needed as interventions are introduced to a new context, or indeed, as they are maintained over time within ever changing contexts (Richard et al., 2015; Power et al., 2019; Horton et al., 2018). Decisions on the nature and extent of adaptation needed will likely be influenced by the extent and nature of differences and similarities between the context from which evidence of effectiveness was derived, and that in which the intervention is being considered (Escoffery et al., 2018).

A growing number of examples of efforts to use interventions in new contexts are emerging in the literature (Gorman, 2017; Hunt et al., 2020; Robling et al., 2016), and these commonly do undergo substantial adaptation prior to implementation and/or re-evaluation. These adaptations may be motivated by a range of considerations. The RE-AIM framework (Glasgow et al., 1999) posits that to achieve population health impact, interventions need to reach a sufficient proportion of their target population to be **e**ffective for those who participate in them, to achieve sufficient **a**doption by relevant organisations and institutions, to be adequately implemented, and become **m**aintained within routine practice over time. Adaptations may represent attempts to maximise population health impact, or to reduce the risk of intervention generated health inequalities, perhaps via one or more of these dimensions. Examples include adaptations to smoking cessation interventions to improve effects among poorer smokers (Kock et al., 2019), or adaptations to health behaviour

interventions to improve reach among patients with physical disabilities (Betts et al., 2018). Interventions may be adapted to align with cultural norms, values, and preferences, in order to improve reach, and willingness of organisations to adopt interventions. For example, sexual health interventions for Latino seasonal workers in the United States require sensitivity to different cultural norms than in other sectors of the US population (Kanamori et al., 2019). Adaptations may be directed toward ensuring that an intervention is implementable within local resources, in ways which have potential to be maintained over time. When adapting interventions from higher to lower income contexts for example, this may include 'task shifting', distributing the work of intervention delivery to differing local workforces. For example, an intervention for pre-school children with autism was delivered by speech and language therapists in higher income countries, but effectively adapted for delivery by non-specialists in South Asian contexts where a similar workforce was not available (Divan et al., 2015; Rahman et al., 2016).

However, goals such as improving the likelihood of implementation and maintaining effectiveness can operate in tension (Barnes et al., 2017). In an ineffective Swedish replication of the US Strengthening Families Programme (SFP), adaptations included doubling class sizes to which children's sessions were delivered (Skärstrand et al., 2013). While this reduced costs and made the intervention easier to implement, it likely altered the dynamics of the intervention (Segrott et al., 2014). As discussed, in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, many stakeholders have moved faceto-face interventions to online modes of delivery (Greenhalgh et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020). This may ensure these can still be implemented in a changed context but raises questions about whether changes to the nature of social interaction will impact on effectiveness, or whether the fact that intervention occurs in participants' homes create new risks. Improving aspects of intervention context-fit by aligning interventions with current norms and practices can also result in an intervention becoming insufficiently distinct from usual practice to lead to better outcomes (Löfholm et al., 2013).

Hence, significant uncertainty remains on what aspects of interventions can be adapted, and how, while maintaining integrity to the principles of an intervention. Processes by which policy, practice and academic stakeholders and user communities make and implement decisions about adaptations remain unclear. While thinking around aspects of these processes is rapidly emerging (Aarons et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2020; Stirman et al., 2019; Kirk et al., 2020), there is limited consensus-informed guidance on issues such as when adaptations and/or contextual differences introduce sufficient uncertainty that investment in a new evaluation is justified prior to implementation, or on how to report adaptations. Hence, guidance is needed to improve consistency in the commissioning,

9

conduct and reporting of studies adapting population health interventions for new contexts, and to stimulate further thinking in undertaking high quality adaptations.

3. How has this guidance been developed?

The ADAPT Study, was funded by the UK MRC-NIHR from 2018-2021. It brought together an international team of public health, health services and health care researchers to develop guidance. The team also included members with experience in education, social care and global health research. An international advisory group of academics and policy representatives provided advice throughout. As detailed in our earlier publications (Evans et al., 2019) and depicted in Figure 1, the process of developing guidance centred around 3 interlinked work packages. These were:

- 1. a systematic review of existing guidance (Movsisyan et al., 2019) and scoping review of empirical examples of adaptation;
- qualitative work with researchers, journal editors, funders and policy and practice stakeholders linked to cases of intervention adaptation and;
- 3. a Delphi consensus exercise (Campbell et al., 2020).

The systematic review synthesised 35 existing guidance papers on adaptation, developing a draft framework, and identifying key gaps in existing guidance (Movsisyan et al., 2019). The scoping review mapped 298 studies which reported on intervention adaptations and analysed in-depth the content of 28 studies randomly selected from that map; it further discussed consistency of practice with existing guidance. Parallel qualitative work used the same sampling strata used by the scoping review to identify examples of adaptation, and understand experiences of researchers, policy and practice stakeholders, funders, and journal editors. Mid-way through the project, a full day meeting among the study team and its international advisory group was convened to discuss emerging findings from the first two work packages, and plan for next stages (Evans et al., 2020). Informed by the reviews and qualitative work, and discussion at this meeting, we undertook a 3 stage Delphi exercise. The Delphi aimed to: examine the perceived clarity and usefulness of definitions used within the guidance; assess consensus with recommendations developed from the reviews and qualitative work; explore a range of perspectives on issues identified as areas of ongoing debate. This generated a set of statements on which stakeholders reached consensus¹, which were discussed and further refined by the author group into recommendations.

¹ Where we refer to 'consensus', this relates to >70% of Delphi participants rating an issue or recommendation as highly important or valid. Consensus scores for each of the survey items asked in our Delphi surveys, and a summary of how each of these informed the final recommendations, are provided as appendices.

A first draft of full guidance was then produced by a core writing group including representation of each of the 3 underpinning work packages, before being refined by a wider group including the study investigators and members of our international advisory group. Consensus was reached on a large number of items in our Delphi surveys. Because some were not specific to adaptation and reflected good practice in intervention research more broadly, we cover these briefly with signposting to other guidance, and focus in more depth on recommendations specific to adapting interventions for new contexts. In drafting the guidance, a small number of additional recommendations were developed to address identified gaps. A draft of the full guidance then formed the basis for discussions at a series of online international expert workshops. These were conducted in place of a planned face-to-face meeting specified in our protocol (Campbell et al., 2020), but which was cancelled due to the COVID-19 outbreak. They included 18 UK, international and global health academics and policy and practice stakeholders. One invitee who was unable to attend submitted written comments. The guidance was revised and finalised considering discussions at workshops.

A diverse range of stakeholder perspectives was incorporated into the guidance informally via discussions at international workshops and international methods teaching by members of the team. Members of our team were involved in updating the MRC's overarching guidance on the development and evaluation of complex interventions (Skivington et al., Under review). Communication between teams aimed to maximise consistency and minimise contradiction. However, our guidance involves more recent stakeholder consultation, and more extensive focus on one specific aspect briefly covered within that guidance. Hence, our terminology and other considerations sometimes depart slightly from those in MRC guidance. Adaptation is a rapidly emerging field of enquiry in which new frameworks were emerging as the work progressed (Miller et al., 2020; Stirman et al., 2019). Hence, we signpost to other sources of guidance as appropriate, including some published after completion of our underpinning research (Bicket et al., 2020; Hopkins et al., 2020).

Drawing upon our underpinning research, we first discuss issues which frame the scope of our guidance in Sections 4 and 5. Section 4 provides definitions of key terms and their evolution during our research, while Section 5 discusses motivations which may underpin a decision to adapt an existing intervention (rather than developing a new one). Section 6 presents our recommendations for adapting an intervention for implementation and/or re-evaluation in a new context, while Section 7 provides recommendations for reporting.





4. Definitions of terms and areas of ongoing debate

In this section, we introduce some key terms, including their evolution during our guidance development work, and areas of ongoing debate in relation to these. Definitions of a fuller range of terms used within the literature on adapting interventions are provided within our systematic review (Movsisyan et al., 2019). We acknowledge that stakeholders will hold different definitions of these terms. Hence, we do not make claims to these being 'true' definitions but focus on their perceived clarity and usefulness in defining our scope. Definitions as used in our guidance are provided in Box 1, with further suggested readings in Box 2. Given that, in our Delphi surveys and qualitative interviews, a key area of ongoing conceptual debate centred around how interventions are 'standardised', we conclude this section with discussion of perspectives on intervention fidelity and integrity, and their implications for adapting interventions. While stakeholders (and indeed members of our author group) adopted slightly different positions on some of these issues, we nevertheless reached consensus on recommendations which may be applied from a range of conceptual starting points.

Box 1. Key terms, and how this guidance uses them

Adaptation: Intentional modification(s) of an evidence-informed intervention, in order to achieve better fit with a new context. This includes planned adaptations (i.e. changes made prior to introducing a new intervention) and responsive adaptations (i.e. changes made intentionally, but in response to emerging contextual issues occurring during implementation). Adaptation of interventions is likely to be ongoing as contexts change over time.

Population health intervention: A spectrum of interventions, programmes, and policies in public health and health services that seek to change the population distribution of risk. This can include micro-level interventions delivered to individuals (e.g. smoking cessation support), but with the potential to achieve sufficiently widespread population reach to improve population health, through to interventions delivered at the macro-level (e.g. smoke-free legislation) (Craig et al., 2018).

Evidence-informed intervention: Interventions which have some prior evidence from use in another context. This may include evidence that it has 'worked' in changing outcomes of interest (or different outcomes), and/or evidence of feasibility, acceptability, delivery processes and/or cost-effectiveness.

Implementation: Refers to the delivery of 'evidence-informed' interventions in routine practice. Implementation considerations run through all stages of intervention research, for example, process evaluation studying delivery in order to understand how implementation in routine practice might be achieved or undermined.

Context: Any feature of the circumstances in which an intervention is implemented that may interact with the intervention to produce variation in outcomes. It may include, but is not limited to, geographical, organisational/service, cultural, economic, ethical, legal and political circumstances, and local practices (Craig et al., 2018). These features of context change to some extent over time, as well as varying between locations.

System: A set of interconnected elements whose interactions form a coherent whole. This can include micro-systems such as schools, families and hospitals. These are nested within larger systems such as the education system, and healthcare systems. Complex systems are distinguished from simple systems by their indivisibility into their component parts.

The *context* into which an intervention is delivered will include the *system* conditions at the point in the history of the system at which the intervention takes place.

Stakeholders: Any individual, organisation, community or other collective that has a direct interest and/or investment in an issue. For the purposes of the guidance stakeholders include those involved in delivering the intervention, participants, policy makers, and supporting partners such as funders and advocacy groups. They may also include those allocating budgets to delivery of interventions.

Fidelity and integrity: Fidelity is commonly defined as the extent to which an intervention is delivered 'as intended'. 'Integrity' is used to describe the extent to which the function and processes of an evidence-informed intervention are maintained.

Box 2. Sources of further guidance and discussion

Advice on balancing adaptation and fidelity can be found in **Kemp 2016** and **Miller et al 2020**. Further information on how to define and consider context can be found in **Craig et al. 2018** and **Pfadenhauer et al. 2017.** For relevant discussion on different approaches to defining and operationalising fidelity and integrity see **Hawe et al. 2004** and **2009**, **Jolles et al. 2019** and **Kirk et al. 2019. Movsisyan et al. 2019** provide a fuller list of key terms and definitions in intervention adaptation.

4.1. Adaptation

Based on our systematic review, the definition of **adaptation** used in our Delphi exercise was "intentional modification(s) of an evidence-informed intervention, in order to achieve better fit between an intervention and a new context". There was consensus in our Delphi exercise that this definition was clear and useful in defining our scope. Other terms used within the literature to describe adaptation processes include tailoring and modification, but for consistency we use only adaptation throughout. Updated MRC guidance discusses adaptation as a form of intervention development. However, in line with INDEX guidance, we consider these to be distinct processes (O'Cathain et al., 2019a; O'Cathain et al., 2019b) (see Section 5 for further discussion of this distinction).

Qualitative comments within our Delphi identified a need to consider both **planned adaptations** (i.e. changes made prior to introducing a new intervention) and **responsive adaptations** (i.e. changes made in response to emerging contextual issues occurring as an intervention is delivered) in our guidance. 'Responsive adaptation' overlaps with 'refinement' which refers to ongoing improvements made to an intervention during feasibility studies and evaluation. 'Refinement' is a key concept for all stages of intervention development, evaluation, and implementation in new MRC guidance. For internal consistency throughout our guidance, we use the term responsive adaptation, we subsequently reflected that the term 'reactive' has unhelpful negative connotations. While we provide guidance for pre-planned and responsive adaptation, we acknowledge that continuous adaptation is a naturally occurring process when change is introduced into a complex system (Horton et al., 2018), and not all adaptation is intentional. However, carefully planning adaptations, and using systematic processes to document and classify responsive adaptations, may limit the extent to which spontaneous adaptations undermine intervention mechanisms (Marsiglia and Booth, 2015; Kemp, 2020).

4.2. Population health intervention

Drawing on previous NIHR-CIHR funded guidance (Craig et al., 2018), we define population health interventions as a spectrum of interventions, programmes, and policies in public health and health services that seek to change the population distribution of risk. This can include interventions which operate at micro, meso- or macro- levels (or a combination of these).

Box 3. Adapting micro-, meso- and macro-level interventions

A key emerging theme from our systematic review, and subsequent scoping review, was that most guidance for, and case examples of, adaptation focus on micro-level or meso-level interventions. There were few examples focused on macro-level interventions (see definition in Section 4.2). This perhaps largely reflected our focus on academic literature and specifically health research, with much adaptation of macro-level interventions occurring and being reported outside of academia and/or perhaps within political and public policy literature. For example, shortly before our guidance began to be developed, Minimum Unit Pricing was introduced in Scotland with promising initial effects (Christie, 2019). In subsequent months, this was introduced in Wales. However, the Welsh Government did not simply copy Scotland's legislation but invited public consultation on issues such as whether the minimum price should match that in Scotland, and potential for unintended consequences.

Our engagement with policy and practice partners involved in adaptation of macro-level interventions was impacted by our guidance being drafted in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic, during which, public health agencies and government bodies were focused on managing this crisis. However, COVID-19 itself presented a range of emerging case examples of the rapid adaptation of population health intervention approaches across contexts. For example, the UK government was heavily criticised for delays in legislating to enforce social distancing (Dalglish, 2020). A commonly cited reason was that British people would not accept these restrictions and would not comply (Hunter, 2020), attributed to notions of 'behavioural fatigue'. This concept was rejected by many behavioural scientists at the time (Sibony, 2020), and the idea that people would not comply was subsequently contradicted by widespread public support and compliance. However, it reflected a theory-based assumption that evidence from countries which had rapidly introduced restrictions could not be directly transferred to the UK context due to cultural differences. While UK governments introduced legislation restricting social interaction at the same time, these differed in strength between nations. For example, in more conservative England, government advice was to only exercise once per day. In Wales, where there is arguably more of a tradition of state intervention in public health, this was explicitly legislated. Restrictions were eased more rapidly in England than in the devolved nations despite higher case numbers.

While we drew predominantly on guidance for and examples of adaptations of micro- and mesolevel adaptations in developing the guidance, we nevertheless anticipate that many of these principles will be transferable to macro-level policymaking. We draw on our experience with macro-level policy such as smoke free legislation in illustrating some of our recommendations.

For the purposes of our scoping review and sampling of case examples, we defined micro-, mesoand macro-level interventions as follows: Micro-level interventions were defined as those intervening with individuals and their immediate social network and relationships, such as the family. Meso-level interventions were defined as those focusing on intervening with medium-level population groups, such as neighborhoods and schools. Here, intervention mechanisms typically focused on institutional or cultural change. Macro-level interventions were those that intervened with overarching social systems operating at the national or global level, such as through regulations, taxation, other government policies or mass media interventions.

4.3. Evidence informed interventions

Our original focus was on **'evidence-informed'** interventions, by which we meant interventions which had been evaluated and have been shown to be effective elsewhere.

However, this remit was described as too narrow by many across our qualitative interviews and qualitative responses to Delphi items. Qualitative interviews suggested that interventions which show initial evidence of feasibility are often adapted for use elsewhere, and then evaluated. Further, interventions may have been evaluated, but in relation to inappropriate outcomes, or outcomes which are not the primary drivers for their use in a new study context. Hence, our use of the term 'evidence-informed' includes interventions underpinned by a broader range of evidence, rather than just effectiveness data. The nature and quality of prior evidence will inform a range of decisions, which we discuss throughout our recommendations.

Box 4. Types of evidence which might already exist for an 'evidence-informed' intervention selected for adaptation

Interventions which are being adapted from elsewhere will likely have some prior evidence base. A range of evaluation designs might have been used, which partly reflect differences in the research questions which have been asked of the intervention, or the perspectives and resources of the team who have undertaken evaluation(Petticrew and Roberts, 2003). Prior evidence may include the following, all of which may provide useful insights for adaptation studies:

- Feasibility studies feasibility studies, including pilot evaluations, are often conducted to
 make a decision on whether to proceed to a larger scale evaluation. These often focus on
 issues such as whether the intervention can be delivered, and acceptability to the target
 population and intended delivery agents;
- Effectiveness studies these may include randomised controlled trials, quasi/natural experimental studies, or before and after studies;
- **Process evaluations** these are typically qualitative and mixed method studies, which focus on understanding a range of issues such as implementation processes, mechanisms and contextual influences on intervention. They may occur alongside outcomes evaluations or as stand-alone studies;
- **Cost-effectiveness evaluation** economic studies are commonly embedded within effectiveness studies;
- Implementation and maintenance studies a range of evidence may be available relating to post-evaluation scale up and monitoring of routine delivery;
- **Systematic reviews** for some interventions which have been evaluated in multiple contexts, systematic reviews may exist which draw together lessons on what has been learned from these various evaluations.

Box 4 continued

Prior research may have focused on these issues purely at the population level, or in terms of *equity* (i.e. who does the intervention reach, for whom is the intervention effective?), both of which will be important considerations in informing adaptation decisions, and understanding what remaining evidence gaps need to be addressed in the new context.

The nature, and quality, of prior evidence for the intervention will inform decisions such as what uncertainties remain, and hence what new evidence is needed in the new context.

While interventions are often used elsewhere because they have 'worked', sometimes they are introduced to new contexts without robust prior evaluation of effectiveness. The Community Group Programme (Nolas et al., 2012) is a group based intervention for children exposed to domestic violence and abuse, originally developed in Canada. It is used in the UK and has good evidence of acceptability and feasibility, although its effects on child mental health have not having been robustly evaluated to date. Members of the author team are conducting a feasibility study with nested pilot randomised trial to address this evidence gap.

Drawing on the CICI framework (Pfadenhauer et al., 2017) and recent NIHR-CIHR funded guidance for taking account of context in intervention development and evaluation (Craig et al., 2018), we defined **context** within our Delphi exercise as 'any feature of the circumstances in which an intervention is implemented that may interact with the intervention to produce variation in outcomes. It may include geographical, organisational/service, cultural, economic, ethical, legal, and political circumstances. There was consensus among our Delphi participants that this was a clear and useful definition.

However, there was also some concern regarding the need to consider more micro-level features of context, such as organisational cultures and usual practices, which form part of the NIHR definition of context. While our definition included *example* dimensions of context, these were not intended to be exhaustive. A range of frameworks for considering contextual similarity and difference is provided in Section 6.2.5. Some participants emphasised that intervention and context cannot be easily separated, with interventions representing attempts to change some aspect of a pre-existing context, and which may become a lasting part of that context. Nevertheless, it can be conceptually useful for the purposes of understanding how new ways of working interact with and alter prior contexts, to draw some boundaries between intervention and context (while remaining cognisant of the artificial nature of this separation). Many cases of adaptation identified within our scoping review involved adapting an intervention for different populations within the same country, and discussions at our expert workshops emphasised that targeting a different population within the same location can be considered to be working within a new set of contextual parameters.

4.5. Complex system

We define a system as a set of interconnected elements whose interactions form a whole, to produce a coherent set of functions. Within this guidance, the focus is primarily on **'complex' systems**, which are distinguished from simple systems by the fact that they cannot be divided into component parts without losing sight of the overall functioning of the system. Examples include systems such as schools, hospitals, or families, which are in turn nested within education, health care and community systems. Others will include the food system or the tobacco system, which would include all actors and institutions involved in the production, supply, regulation and use of these products. The *context* into which an intervention is delivered includes the system conditions which surround the intervention at the point in history at which that 'event' (i.e. the intervention) took place. This may then in turn be altered by the interventions are commonly introduced are also often referred to as 'complex adaptive systems' (Keshavarz et al., 2010), due to their ongoing adaptation and capacity for learning in response to feedback. However, consistent with new guidance on handling complexity in evaluation (Bicket et al., 2020), we use the term 'complex system' throughout.

4.6. Implementation

We use the term **implementation** to describe the delivery of an intervention in routine practice.

We acknowledge that there are differences in the literature on how the word 'implementation' is used. It is often used interchangeably with intervention delivery (Glasgow et al., 1999; Moore et al., 2014; Moore et al., 2015a), but in other cases, is reserved in other cases specifically for the use of research findings in practice (O'Cathain et al., 2019a; O'Cathain et al., 2019b). Consistent with MRC guidance for developing and evaluating interventions, we emphasise the need for implementation to form a focus of all stages. Process evaluation at earlier stages for example, aims to understand how implementation in routine practice might be achieved or undermined, as well as enabling attribution of effects to an intervention 'as delivered'.

4.7. Stakeholders

We define **stakeholders** as 'any individual, organisation, community or other collective that has a direct interest and/or investment in a particular issue. For the purposes of the guidance, stakeholders include those involved in delivering the intervention, participants, policy makers, and supporting partners such as funders and advocacy groups.' There was consensus in our Delphi exercise that this was a clear and useful definition.

For population health research, it can be difficult to define who are the relevant stakeholders, as all members of a population have a stake in population health. The population health decision space involves a large number of individuals, institutions and networks (Brownson et al., 2009), including researchers from a range of disciplines, the public, various civil society organisations, the media, practitioners and service providers as well as policy-makers and industry actors across multiple sectors at local, regional, national and international levels (Lavis et al., 2003). This may include those who will decide on the allocation of resource to interventions and their evaluations. Comments in our Delphi exercise on who to involve in adaptation were often grounded in the kinds of populations and settings with which participants worked. Decisions on who to involve in intervention adaptation will vary significantly according to the nature of intervention being adapted (see Section 6.1).

4.8. Fidelity and integrity

In our reviews, adaptation was often discussed in relation to 'fidelity', defined within MRC guidance for developing and evaluating interventions, as the degree to which an intervention is delivered as intended. An inconsistency was that adaptation was sometimes assumed to reduce fidelity (Lewis et al., 2019), though other times, positioned as necessary to maintain fidelity across contexts (Kemp, 2016). In our Delphi exercise, while marginally short of consensus, most agreed that adaptation is sometimes necessary to maintain fidelity in a new context. Qualitative comments indicated two main conceptualisations of fidelity, which related to how interventions are standardised, and hence how they can be adapted without compromising fidelity. Some emphasised that interventions have 'core' components, to be delivered intact; as long as core components are replicated, the intervention can be considered to retain fidelity despite adaptation of other components. This perspective was dominant within our systematic review (Movsisyan et al., 2019). Others emphasised the need to standardise overall functions of an intervention, rather than the form of its components. This latter perspective was less common in our systematic review, but is adopted within new MRC guidance which argues that in effectiveness evaluation and implementation, standardisation will often relate more to the functions of the intervention than the specific form of its components (Skivington et al., Under review). Rather than fidelity, some authors use the term 'integrity', drawing attention not only to 'what' was intended for delivery, but 'why' it was intended. While often used interchangeably with fidelity (Richard et al., 2015), integrity draws attention to wholeness and indivisibility, consistent with systems perspectives. Hence, attention is placed upon maintaining functional integrity of the intervention as a whole when undertaking adaptation. Expanded discussion is presented in Box 5.

These approaches to standardisation may be equally valid in different scenarios, as reflected within Glasgow and colleagues' (1999) definition of implementation, which refers to 'fidelity to the various

elements of an intervention's key *functions or components*' (http://www.re-aim.org/about/what-isre-aim/implementation/ our emphasis). It is useful for an adaptation team to be upfront in agreeing and articulating what approach they are adopting to standardisation. In either case, adequate theorisation of *how* the intervention works is critical. Unless earlier evaluations have delved into the intervention's 'black box', assumptions about which components matter, or which functions to replicate, remain hypothetical. Without a deep understanding of *how* the intervention worked (Kirk et al., 2019), altering components considered optional may inadvertently undermine effectiveness, or a team may focus on reproducing functions which were not responsible for effects. Human judgement is always present in articulating how interventions worked and seeking to replicate these mechanisms across contexts. Guidance will not eliminate this judgement or remove uncertainty in these processes, but aims to provide tools for managing these challenges, and reporting them transparently.

Box 5. Fidelity, integrity and adaptation: an extended discussion

In our Delphi surveys, stakeholders highlighted two conceptualisations of fidelity which shaped how potential for adaptation of an intervention was conceived. Some emphasised that interventions have 'core' components, which must be delivered intact, with other components open to adaptation. This perspective was also reflected within many frameworks within our systematic review. Flexibility may for example be built into how an intervention is implemented to enable fit with local processes, while maintaining attention to ensuring a standardised intervention can be delivered to participants as a result (Hoddinott et al., 2012).

However, some participants emphasised that the relationship between adaptation and fidelity depends on how standardisation, and by extension, fidelity, is conceived. If an intervention is to be standardised in terms of the form of its components, adaptation may render this a different intervention. If the aim is to standardise in terms of overall process and functions, an intervention might look different from one context to another, while maintaining consistency to its theoretical principles(Hawe et al., 2004). For example, within standardised national education curricula, rather than all schools being expected to provide children with the same lessons, teachers are given guidance on learning objectives for students to achieve and principles to be followed in achieving them. Each school and teacher will tailor methods to achieve fit with their practice and needs of individual classes and pupils. So long as locally developed teaching approaches fulfil the functions set out in the curriculum, the intervention is standardised.

Arguments regarding how interventions ought to be standardised have been discussed within the behavioural counselling literature, where some argue that standardisation could be achieved by providing counsellors a script and set series of questions, but that this would deviate from theoretical patient-centred principles (Miller and Rollnick, 2009). Hence, maintaining fidelity requires skilled adaptations of form, while maintaining consistency with process and function. Defining standardisation this way might be particularly useful for interventions which involve introducing change in communities or organisations, where substantial tailoring may be needed for interventions to be accommodated into the practices of systems with differing starting points (Jolles et al., 2019; Villeval et al., 2019).

Box 5. Continued

For some interventions, the distinction between standardising by function or form may be minimal. However, for interventions with greater degrees of complexity in terms of their interactions with context, standardisation by process and function may lead to differing forms in each context. In these cases, defining protocols too rigidly will most likely lead implementers to make spontaneous changes to fit local practice which depart from the principles of the intervention (Marsiglia and Booth, 2015). In adapting an intervention for a new context, attention needs to be paid to maintaining integrity to its overall functioning. Isolating individual components for adaptation or otherwise potentially has unintended consequences for interactions between the elements of the intervention, and hence the functioning of the intervention.

Rather than 'fidelity', some favour the term 'integrity'. This draws attention not just to 'what' is intended to be delivered but also 'why', in terms of the functions interventions serve. Consistent with systems perspectives, integrity also draws attention to wholeness and indivisibility, with interventions greater than the sum of their parts.

Regardless of how standardisation has been defined, a deep theorisation of how the intervention actually works (and data providing empirical verification of that theory), will be central to transferring an intervention to a new context. Without this, assumptions regarding which components are critical to maintain, or what functions to strive to replicate, remain hypothetical. Removal or alteration of components considered non-core may undermine the effectiveness of the intervention. Efforts may be directed to reproducing functions which were not responsible for change.

As Howarth and colleagues argue "attempts to replicate successful programmes risk disappointment that may be blamed on context, when the true culprit is that only the superficial outer appearance of the intervention has been reproduced" (p107)(Howarth et al., 2016). Programme theories are often not singular, precisely described, or adequately empirically examined within evaluation studies. Hence, human judgement is always present in articulating how interventions, and their components, brought about change and seeking to replicate them across contexts.

5. Motivations for adapting an intervention rather than developing a new one

Recent guidance on development of health interventions led by members of the author team, proposed that adapting an intervention may sometimes be a helpful alternative to developing a new intervention, defining adaptation as distinct from intervention development (O'Cathain et al., 2019a; O'Cathain et al., 2019b). Our Delphi exercise indicated consensus that the choice to adapt an intervention *rather than* developing a new intervention may be driven by i) Higher expectation of effectiveness associated with adapting an evidence-informed intervention rather than developing a new intervention rather than developing a new intervention. There was no consensus on a 3rd item that adaptation saved time relative to intervention development.

There can however be a fine line between intervention development and adaptation. Sometimes a new intervention might be formed through combining elements of multiple evidence-informed interventions. For the purposes of this guidance and consistent with INDEX guidance for developing complex interventions (O'Cathain et al., 2019a; O'Cathain et al., 2019b), we distinguish between intervention adaptation (which focuses on adapting a single defined intervention for a new context), and intervention development (which involves formation of a new intervention, but nevertheless, will sometimes involve drawing upon previous interventions). In some cases, a team may be undertaking a hybrid of intervention development and adaptation, adapting a single intervention from elsewhere, but augmenting this with new locally developed components. A team may also begin with an intention to adapt an intervention, but over time realise that the intervention has undergone so much adaptation that it essentially becomes a new intervention. Informed by our qualitative interviews, where an intervention is changed to the extent that its mechanisms are altered, our guidance conceives this as a new intervention. Hence, guidance on intervention development may be useful in these cases.

We highlight throughout our recommendations in Section 6, key decision points at which a team might move away from adaptation and toward intervention development or may use intervention development guidance in conjunction with this guidance. In these cases, INDEX guidance (O'Cathain et al., 2019a; O'Cathain et al., 2019b) offers a useful source of additional guidance.

Box 6. A case example of intervention development based on adaptation of multiple interventions

• Bonell and colleagues conducted an evaluation of the Learning Together intervention in South East England, a school based intervention to reduce bullying (Bonell et al., 2018). This was informed by two previous evidence-informed interventions (Bonell et al., 2014) (the Gatehouse and Aban Aya interventions) and also integrated restorative practices into school policy and practice. While adapting principles of existing interventions, these elements are combined to form a new programme theory. Hence, our guidance would consider this to be intervention development rather than adaptation of an intervention for a new context.

As discussed throughout Section 6, a key practical distinction between adaptation and intervention development relates to how equipoise is likely to be handled in plans for evaluation and implementation. For a new intervention with no prior evidence base, the default assumption is likely to be sufficient equipoise that rigorous controlled evaluation is needed prior to implementation. For adaptations of existing, and well-evidenced interventions, this default is less clear. In many cases, equipoise will be negligible and postponing full scale implementation may not be warranted.

6. Recommendations for adapting interventions for new contexts

Our recommendations in this section are presented in a staged form in both our process model (Figure 2) and step-by -step guide (Box 7), from forming an adaptation team, to full implementation and maintenance. In line with recent expert consultations on the usefulness of existing adaptation guidance (Yoong et al., 2020), and concerns expressed in our qualitative interviews that overly prescriptive guidance can stifle innovation, we provide evidence and consensus informed recommendations which allow flexibility to fit unique situations each team will be operating within. Consensus scores for all Delphi items which informed recommendations introduced in this section are presented in Appendix 1, and mapped onto final recommendations in Appendix 2.

While presented sequentially for ease of reading, the stages we present are not always linear, and may involve iteration within and between stages. Adaptation may be initiated at differing stages, and stakeholders may use this guidance from differing starting points. For example, stakeholders may begin with a population health 'problem' and then aim to identify an intervention. In other instances, an intervention may have been identified whose suitability for a new context is being considered. We have endeavoured to ensure that the guidance will be useful to stakeholders entering the adaptation process at any of these various starting points. Further suggested readings mapped to each sub-section are presented in Box 8.

Whatever the starting point, we recommend **forming an adaptation team** with the expertise and experience to oversee adaptation process, and agreeing principles for their involvement throughout, including careful management of conflicts of interest (Section 6.1).

Our guidance stages and associated framework (Figure 2) then move to **assessing the rationale for intervention and considering intervention context fit** (section 6.2). Following this stage a team may i) decide there are no suitable interventions, and move to intervention development instead; ii) identify an existing evidence-informed intervention which is considered likely to achieve intervention-context fit subject to adaptation.

Having selected an intervention, a team may move forward to **planning and undertaking adaptation** (Section 6.3). At this stage, a decision may be made following further consideration i) that the intervention is unlikely to achieve fit within available resources, in which case a team might terminate adaptation and move to intervention development (or selection of a different intervention if multiple candidate interventions are available), ii) that the intervention can be adapted to achieve intervention-context fit, while retaining consistency with intended functions.

In the latter instance, attention turns to **planning for and undertaking evaluation** (Section 6.4), as warranted by the degree and nature of uncertainty posed by the intervention. This will likely include piloting, and beginning to develop principles for documenting and classifying responsive adaptations. This stage may include evaluation of effectiveness and cost effectiveness if there is significant uncertainty. Where an intervention shows promise but significant further adaptation is needed, a team may rotate back to undertaking adaptations. If found to be effective and cost-effective (or if on the basis of prior evidence, further evaluation is not deemed to be warranted prior to implementation) then a team may move forward to **implement and maintain the adapted intervention at scale (Section 0).** In many cases, adaptation will not end here. As context changes over time with potential knock-on effects for intervention context fit, there may be an ongoing need to iterate back to undertaking adaptations as an intervention is maintained at scale.

ADAPT guidance v1.0 09-11-20

Figure 2 ADAPT process model for adapting interventions for a new context. Yellow boxes=stages of ADAPT step-by-step guidance (see Box 3). Blue boxes=categories of potential conclusion from each stage. Directional arrows=recommendations for moving, forward or backward through ADAPT stages (or exiting), on the basis of stage conclusions.



Form an adaptation team		Step 1. Assess the rationale for intervention, and consider		
comprised of diverse		int	ervention-context fit	
stakeholders		a.	Define the problem in the target population	
a.	Involve stakeholders	b.	Identify candidate interventions	
	early and throughout	с.	Obtain detailed information on the selected intervention and its	
	the adaptation process		context	
b.	Agree principles for	d.	Consider the robustness of effectiveness claims	
	decision-making and	e.	Map similarity and difference between original and new	
	involvement of		contexts	
	members	f.	Consider intellectual property issues	
c.	Consider the pros and			
	cons of working with	Ste	ep 2. Plan for and undertake adaptations	
	original intervention	a.	Identify and respond to constraints and facilitators	
	developers	b.	Adapt intervention materials	
d.	Review and update	с.	Consider potential for unintended consequences	
	membership of	d.	Consider costs and resources needed for the adapted	
	adaptation team as		intervention	
	adaptation progresses	e.	Recruit individuals and groups to deliver the intervention	
		Ste	ep 3. Plan for and undertake piloting and evaluation	
		a.	Consider the extent and type of evaluation warranted	
		b.	Consider the value of new information to policymakers,	
			practitioners and other stakeholders	
		с.	Consider resources available for evaluation	
		d.	Evaluate feasibility and consider further adaptations based on	
			feedback	
		e.	Document and classify responsive adaptations	
		f.	Undertake evaluation of effectiveness, cost-effectiveness	
			and/or process (if warranted)	
		Ste	ep 4. Implement and maintain the adapted intervention at scale	
		a.	Build sustainable partnerships, capacity and plans for	
			maintenance	
		b.	Establish data monitoring systems	

Box 7. The ADAPT step-by-step guidance for adapting interventions for a new context

Box 8. Sources of additional reading relating to each guidance section

Form an adaptation team of stakeholders

For guidance on co-production which will be relevant where adapting interventions see **NIHR Involve 2018** and **Hawkins et al. 2017.** For a critical overview of some key challenges in coproducing research, see **Oliver et al. 2018.**

Assess the rationale for intervention, and select a suitable intervention

For further information on the approaches to map the system around the problem in the target population, see **Rutter et al. 2019**, to model the transportability of the intervention effects, see and **Westreich et al. 2017**, and agent based modelling see **Badham et al. 2018**. **Escoffery et al. 2018** provide an overview of how different guidance papers conduct needs assessment to inform intervention adaptation. The TRANSFER approach is described in detail in **Munthe-Kaas et al. 2020**. Further guidance on how to develop complex interventions can be found in **O'Cathain et al. 2019a,b**. For more details on how to describe and assess key features of context, see the CICI framework by **Pfadenhauer et al. 2017** (and additional frameworks in Box 12).

Plan for and undertake adaptations

New guidance on considering the impact of adaptations on intervention functioning is available in the MADI framework (Kirk et al. 2020). Bonell et als. (2013) article on dark logic models discusses a means of considering unintended consequences and may be useful in considering potential unintended consequences of adaptations. INDEX guidance on how to develop complex interventions which may often be useful in conjunction with this guidance, can be found in O'Cathain et al. 2019a,b.

Plan for and undertake evaluation

For further guidance on how to define, conduct and report pilot studies, see Hallingberg et al. 2018 and Eldridge et al. 2016. See Skivington et al. for the updated MRC guidance on how to develop and evaluate complex interventions and Moore et al. 2015 for the MRC guidance on the process evaluation of complex interventions. Aarons et al. 2017 provide more details on intervention re-evaluation in a new context. See Bicket et al. 2020 for guidance on handling complexity in evaluation and Hopkins et al 2020 for guidance on types of outcomes evaluation design. The IDEA decision tool by Miller et al 2020 discusses processes for iteratively undertaking and evaluating adaptations. Bayesian thinking about uncertainty is discussed by Befani & Stedman-Bryce 2017 and Heino et al 2018.

Implement and maintain the adapted intervention

For further guidance on 'scaling out' interventions (i.e. implementing them in new contexts) see **Aarons et al. 2017**. Where an intervention has been evaluated in the new context, differences between scale-out and scale-up are minimal. Hence, other sources of guidance on scale-up (**e.g. Koorts et al. 2018**) are useful.

Report the adapted intervention

Guidance on how to report interventions can be found in **Hoffman et al. 2014** and its extension for population health and policy interventions – in **Campbell et al. 2018**. Booth et al. 2019 describe how context can be considered in the evaluation of complex interventions. For further details and guidance on the reporting of intervention adaptations, see **Stirman et al. 2019**.

6.1 Form an adaptation team group comprised of diverse stakeholders6.1.1 Involve stakeholders early and throughout adaptation processes

There was consensus in our Delphi exercise on the importance of including the following stakeholders in adaptation research: i) members of the target population, ii) researchers with experience of adaptation, evaluation, and working with the target population, iv) individuals and organisations responsible for delivery and v) individuals and organisations responsible for decisions about post evaluation scale up. We recommend forming adaptation teams comprising these stakeholders as early as possible, with ongoing collaboration needed as a team moves from identifying suitable interventions through to implementation. For example, stakeholders will work together in identifying which interventions, and which aspects of context warrant adaptation (Section 6.2). Following piloting, collaboration to consider feedback from those implementing and taking part in the intervention may inform a concrete intervention model and plans for its implementation and/or evaluation. As described in Section 6.4.5, capturing responsive adaptations and classifying these in terms of their fit with or departure from programme theory will require ongoing partnerships. Further, as described in Section 6.5.1, building partnerships throughout will facilitate wider implementation where this is warranted. Teams will likely include a core group of members comprised of the above groups throughout all stages, although some individuals with expertise on specific issues may be consulted on a more ad-hoc basis. Forming teams whose members are respectful of one another's perspectives, but who nevertheless hold diverse views and experiences and are able to challenge one another's assumptions, is likely to be helpful in preventing groupthink and premature consensus (Hoddinott, 2015). There may sometimes be good reasons to exclude some groups due to conflicts of interest. For example, where intervention aims to reduce harms related to unhealthy commodities such as tobacco, alcohol, soft drinks, collaborating with industries which produce those commodities may undermine the credibility of the team's work (Petticrew et al., 2018). PPI is likely to play an important role in contextualising research to the everyday realities of a new context, and an increasing body of guidance and case examples describes principles for patient and public involvement (PPI) in research (Kaisler and Missbach, 2020; Bedwell and Lavender, 2020).

6.1.2 Agree principles for decision making and involvement of members

Some adaptation processes will be researcher-led, others will be policy-practice led. Others might be community-led. Hence, some teams will operate in a more top-down way, while others may be formed in more bottom-up way, being more community-led from the outset. Top down approaches, involving decision making by a small number of individuals in positions of authority, may achieve adoption more rapidly due to their being led by agents with power and resources to deploy.

However, they may also be less likely to achieve contextual fit and longer term sustainability than approaches which involve collective decision making (Rogers, 2010). In practice, many interventions involve a combination of top-down and bottom-up elements. Co-production, is likely to be valuable in successful adaptation, given that the overarching goal of adaptation is to achieve interventioncontext fit, which requires detailed knowledge of both evidence and local context. Co-production is defined by NIHR Involve as "an approach in which researchers, practitioners and the public work together, sharing power and responsibility from the start to the end of the project, including the generation of knowledge" (NIHR Involve, 2018). It can be challenging, and requires careful consideration of who will be involved in which decisions and how, and clarity on expected outcomes of the co-production process for all of those involved (Oliver et al., 2019). Some stakeholders may work together in equal partnership, while others may be involved in an advisory capacity without decision-making power. Clarity on leadership, and who among the group will make decisions and take responsibility for them is important. It might be that decisions will be made by majority vote among the group with each member holding equal power. Alternatively, one group may have more decision-making power than others. Ultimately, decisions on whether an intervention can be taken to scale may be taken largely by individuals or groups such as policymakers, who make decisions regarding resource allocation at regional and national levels.

6.1.3 Consider pros and cons of working with original intervention developers

There was no consensus in our Delphi exercise on whether it was important to involve the developers of the original intervention (see Section 6.2.6 for discussion of intellectual property issues). Involvement of developers may be beneficial in providing additional detail on the intervention beyond published materials, to aid replication of its mechanisms in the new context. Indeed, while in some cases it may not be possible to involve developers who have moved onto other roles or have other commitments, franchise models may sometimes mandate their involvement. However, our discussions at expert workshops highlighted several challenges. Some spoke of experiences that those who developed an intervention often have narrowly defined ideas of what it means to replicate it, which might inhibit the scope for adaptation and ability to achieve intervention-context fit. In situations such as where introducing an intervention to a lower income setting, power imbalances may occur where a developer from a higher income context is given substantial influence in decision-making on what is right for people in a lower-income context. As in pharmaceutical trials where financial conflicts of interest tend to increase the likelihood of concluding that an intervention works (Liss, 2006), developers will often have a range of financial and non-financial interests. Emotional investment in a body of work, or pressures from employers and funders to demonstrate wider impact of the original research, may represent important nonfinancial conflicts of interest. Hence, where working with intervention developers, interests will need to be transparently managed throughout. It may be appropriate that individuals with a clear vested interest in demonstrating wider impacts of an intervention are excluded from certain aspects of decision making, or at least that their influence is reported transparently, with parameters around the role developers will play made clear to all parties from the outset.

6.1.4 Review and update membership of adaptation team as adaptation progresses The composition of teams will often need to be somewhat fluid, with membership and roles reviewed and updated as stakeholders move through the stages described below. For example, there was strong consensus among our Delphi participants that engaging those who will deliver the intervention in adaptation decisions was important. However, if a group is beginning from a position of defining the problem with no intervention in mind, it may be difficult to anticipate who the implementers might be. Hence, it may only be once candidate interventions have been identified that stakeholders who would have responsibility for implementation can be identified.

Box 9 Case examples relating to involvement of stakeholders in intervention adaptation

- Co-production can be important in adapting interventions to new contexts, as it requires in depth understanding of the theory and evidence base of the intervention and of the new context. Hawkins and colleagues (2017) developed a framework for adapting an evidence-informed peer-led smoking intervention to a different topic area (substance use). During stage 1, focus groups, consultations, interviews, and observations of delivery were conducted with key stakeholders. Stage 2 brought together an inter-disciplinary intervention development group consisting of academics and practice representatives to jointly adapt existing, and produce new, intervention activities. In stage 3, intervention training and content were iteratively prototyped using process data on fidelity and acceptability to key stakeholders.
- Clarity on the objectives of adaptation teams, the roles of each stakeholder group, and who will take responsibility for which decisions, is important. Some adaptation processes will be researcher led and others policy led. Power will not always be equally distributed. During the COVID-19 pandemic, the UK government assembled scientific groups to advise on issues including which interventions to adopt to manage the outbreak, and how. A number of options were available from countries who had experienced earlier outbreaks, or from previous outbreaks. However, these groups were advisory. Government ministers ultimately made decisions, some of which were publicly opposed by members of these groups. Government claims to be following the science (The Economist, 2020) led to some concerns that scientists were being framed as decision-makers and would take the blame for any negative consequences.
- It can be useful to involve original intervention developers in adapting an intervention, but vested interests need careful management. An intervention's developers are likely to have financial and/or non-financial interests in that intervention. A recent overview of reviews of the Functional Family Therapy intervention, for example, concluded that there was some uncertainty over the effectiveness of the intervention due to the quality of reviews on which this conclusion was based, and recommended further assessment of effects if scale-up was to continue (Weisman and Montgomery, 2019). This was met with calls for retraction and revision by authors linked to the development and dissemination of the intervention (Robbins and Turner, 2019). The journal stood by the publication in its original form.

6.2 Assess the rationale for intervention and consider intervention-context fit6.2.1 Define the problem in the target population

Defining the problem is an important stage in selecting an intervention for adaptation. This includes setting out the rationale for intervention, in terms of population-level needs and assets, as well as inequalities in their distribution, and considering potential settings for intervention. In practice, a group may be responding to a problem which has already been identified by another group of stakeholders. This may include cases where health research funders issue commissioned calls for intervention research relating to identified priority areas. Nevertheless, engagement with a range of stakeholders to understand the rationale for intervention from multiple perspectives may help shape intervention selection processes within pre-specified parameters. Approaches such as systems mapping can be helpful at this stage. These can allow stakeholders to surface and reconcile differing assumptions about how the problem is sustained by current system dynamics, and how an intervention might alter interactions between components of the system to improve outcomes (Rutter et al., 2019).

6.2.2 Identify candidate interventions

In our reviews and qualitative interviews, we found a range of ways in which interventions had been identified and selected for adaptation. Selection may be based on a systematic assessment of available evidence and comparison of existing interventions. In some cases, organisations who developed and/or evaluated an intervention may pro-actively seek implementation elsewhere by promoting it to stakeholders in other contexts, or a team may become aware of promising interventions via conferences or their networks or other mechanisms. Hence, the starting point may be a consideration of whether to use an intervention which has already been identified. In either scenario, it is useful to think critically about whether the intervention (or candidate interventions) meets a clear need, in a manner likely to achieve contextual fit. For some problems and intervention settings, up to date reviews will be available which compare effects of different interventions across a range of contexts. If there are none, it may be useful to conduct a new review or evidence map (Snilstveit et al., 2016). These will provide a starting point for generating a list of candidate interventions for consideration. It may be that no suitable interventions are identified, or that a team decides that combining elements from more than one intervention to form a new intervention would be appropriate. In these cases, recent guidance on intervention development may be useful (O'Cathain et al., 2019a; O'Cathain et al., 2019b).

6.2.3 Obtain detailed information on selection intervention and the contexts in which it has been evaluated

All publications relating to previous evaluations or their component parts are likely to provide useful insights for adaptation. Publications relating to overall effectiveness will be useful in providing a

starting point for considering how confident a team are that an intervention has worked previously (see Section 6.2.4 for discussion of evaluating the robustness of effectiveness claims). Interventions which are effective at the population level can nevertheless generate inequalities through differential effects in particular sub-groups (Moore et al., 2015b). Hence, sub-group analyses focused on differential effects can be important in understanding for whom the intervention worked (Petticrew et al., 2012). This may inform decisions on where adaptations may be needed to enhance effects for sub-groups of interest and minimise the risk of generating inequalities.

Publications describing and empirically investigating programme theory are likely to be important in enabling the kind of deep understanding of mechanisms which will be needed to maintain integrity in a new context. In some cases, programme theory will be described in a separate publication from any evaluation (Sidani et al., 2020). As many interventions are under-theorised, the process of building a programme theory may need to be undertaken retrospectively to guide adaptation processes. Process evaluation is increasingly integral to evaluation of population health interventions, and 2015 MRC guidance (Moore et al., 2014; Moore et al., 2015a) emphasised a major role for process evaluation as being enabling better judgements on how an intervention might be used beyond its original context. However, much historical evidence will be based solely on outcomes data. In some cases therefore, additional research in the original context (or other contexts where the intervention is in use), may be useful in order to fill in gaps in the understanding of the intervention prior to adapting it for a new context (Devlin and Wight, 2020; Duggleby et al., 2020).

Where an intervention has been used in several contexts, bringing together details of how other teams have adapted it, including process and outcomes publications from all of these studies, will help to form a clearer picture of its likely suitability, and need for adaptation. Where systematic and complete (Campbell et al., 2018), published information on interventions may be sufficient to enable judgements about which intervention, or interventions, are likely to be most suitable and form a basis for considering the need for adaptation. However, reporting of interventions is often incomplete. Hence, gaps may need to be filled by obtaining intervention manuals, and/or through contact with developers.

6.2.4 Consider the robustness of effectiveness claims

As described in Section 5, prior evidence that an intervention has 'worked' elsewhere is often a key motivation for adapting an existing intervention rather than developing a new one, as this may increase confidence in likelihood of effectiveness. Where an intervention is explicitly being selected on the basis that it has 'worked' elsewhere, it is important to critically consider the evidence for that

claim. Claims to effectiveness may be based on poor quality studies with high risk of bias. If an intervention has only been shown to work when tested by its developers, by others with significant conflicts of interest, or in evaluations with high risk of bias, claims of effectiveness ought to be treated with caution. Where a single good quality, independently conducted and peer reviewed evaluation using a robust design is available, a positive outcome may still be due to chance. Replication of scientific findings, rather than considering a single study to have provided definitive evidence that an intervention worked, is a key cornerstone of science (Maxwell et al., 2015). Where an intervention has been robustly tested in several high-quality evaluations in differing contexts, including by teams independent from the original developers, there may be greater confidence in claims it has been effective.

However, some attendees at our expert workshops also emphasised a need to remain critical of claims that interventions have been *ineffective*. Automatically disregarding interventions which have not met the threshold for a conclusion of effectiveness may be wasteful. For example, while spurious sub-group analyses are sometimes used as a post-hoc means of finding an intervention effect (Axford et al., 2020), a priori defined secondary analyses may indicate that an intervention was effective for sub-groups which are like the populations for which intervention is being considered. While poor implementation is also sometimes used as a post-hoc 'excuse' for null effects (Axford et al., 2020), process data might legitimately support a hypothesis that effectiveness could be improved through addressing fixable weaknesses in implementation. Further, conclusions that interventions have not worked are usually based on frequentist logic, with primary analysis having failed to achieve a p-value of <0.05. Conflation of failure to reach a threshold for concluding presence of an effect with evidence of no effect is increasingly criticised (Amrhein et al., 2019). Bayesian perspectives (Heino et al., 2018) can enable researchers to distinguish between evidence of ineffectiveness, or evidence that data are simply too insensitive to inform a conclusion either way. Reanalysis of trial data finds that in most cases where null findings are reported, more data are needed to reach a firm conclusion; in relatively few cases do Bayes Factors support a hypothesis of no effect (Beard et al., 2016). Hence, where considering interventions whose previous evaluations have not concluded that the intervention was effective, use of Bayes Factors can be a useful means of assessing whether there is evidence that the intervention did not work, or whether previous evaluations were inconclusive. Coupled with careful consideration of process evaluation evidence, a team may conclude that an intervention is sufficiently likely to work in the new context that it merits further consideration and re-evaluation, with adaptations building on learning from earlier work. Further discussion of Bayesian approaches to uncertainty is provided in Section 6.4.1.

33

Judgements on the robustness and nature of existing evidence will feed into later considerations regarding the benefits of maintaining fidelity to the original model, and the extent of re-evaluation warranted. If an intervention has not been tested for effectiveness, but is considered to have potential, it will most likely warrant evaluation of effectiveness as if it were a new intervention, such as a new randomised trial or other robust outcomes evaluation.

6.2.5 Map similarity and difference between original and new contexts In our systematic review, we found that most guidance for adapting interventions encourages researchers to look for differences between the context(s) in which the intervention has previously been evaluated, and the new context into which it is planned. However, participants in our qualitative work emphasised that focusing purely on *difference* between contexts may lead to an assumption that extensive adaptation is always needed, as all contexts are different. Many contextual differences will be irrelevant; interventions may transfer well to seemingly very different contexts, while failing to transfer to more similar ones. Hence, we recommend attending not just to differences between contexts, but also to similarity, in terms of whether contextual contingencies needed to make the intervention implementable and effective are present.

Our Delphi exercise reached consensus on a number of reasons why an intervention might be adapted for a new context, which mapped closely onto the domains of the RE-AIM framework (Glasgow et al., 1999) (see Box 10 below). Emphasis in assessing contextual similarities and differences may usefully be anchored around considerations of whether these differences are likely to act upon these RE-AIM dimensions (reach, effectiveness, adoption, implementation and maintenance). It is important to consider these not only in terms of overall population impact, but also in terms of equity, to increase the likelihood of interventions being inequality-reducing. Participants at our expert workshops emphasised the importance of considering whether an intervention is likely to be adopted by organisations serving disadvantaged communities, and achieve reach and effectiveness among disadvantaged groups, rather than just whether it will achieve these goals at the population level.

Box 10. Considerations in adapting an intervention for new context on which Delphi participants reached consensus:

- achieving adequate retention of participants in the adapted intervention;
- expected effectiveness of the adapted intervention in the new context;
- engaging practitioners or others involved in delivery of the adapted intervention,
- ensuring the adapted intervention can be delivered in the new context,
- the likelihood of the intervention being sustained in the new context.

While the importance of context is well recognised (Howarth et al., 2016), major challenges lie in operationalising it in useful and tractable ways. Stakeholders involved in adapting an intervention will often hold differing views on what aspects of context matter, which will need to be considered and balanced within adaptation teams. For example, local implementers may focus on fine grained detail of their local context, while those with a national remit may take a more macro-view on context. In some cases, additional qualitative research may be needed to better characterise the new context to inform comparisons with previous contexts (Duggleby et al., 2020).

Drawing on an established framework or theory can be helpful in guiding thinking on how the above dimensions might be supported or undermined by context, and subsequent adaptation. A growing body of conceptual frameworks (Pfadenhauer et al., 2017; Pfadenhauer et al., 2015; Craig et al., 2018; Munthe-Kaas et al., 2020) and theories from sociology (May, 2013) and community psychology (O'Donnell et al., 1993) offer approaches to operationalising context and considering how it might impact on these factors. Box 11 provides an overview of potential frameworks identified by the author group or through our expert consultations. This is not an exhaustive review, but adaptation teams may decide that one of these, or elements of several of them, will help in achieving their aims.

Important considerations commonly reflected across frameworks include presence of resources to deliver an intervention, the roles into which intervention delivery would be embedded, acceptability (to the target population, intervention delivery agents and wider publics), the willingness and ability of local implementers to adopt the intervention, potential fit with local norms and existing systems, and the relative prevalence and distribution of the problem in the target population. An important contextual consideration which is not explicitly captured in these frameworks includes characterising 'usual care' in the original and new contexts. Effect sizes from other evaluations represent estimates of effectiveness relative to a control condition (Freedland et al., 2019). An intervention introduced into a context in which it is only marginally different from usual care may be more likely to be normalised into practice, but may make little difference to outcomes (Löfholm et al., 2013).

Box 11. Some theories and frameworks for guiding thinking about similarity and difference in context

May's (2013) general theory of implementation specifies conditions for an intervention to be
implementable which may form part of assessments of whether a new intervention can be
introduced. These include i) capability (whether the intervention is workable and can be integrated
into existing routines in a new context); ii) capacity (the availability of local norms, roles and
resources needed to support the intervention) iii) potential (whether stakeholders are willing and
able to deliver the intervention, and value the change which its implementation will bring about);
iv) contribution (ability of local providers to work together and commit to delivery, investing in the
operationalisation of the intervention in practice);

Box 11. Continued

- Activity settings theory (O'Donnell et al., 1993) derived from community psychology understands many interventions as being introduced into dynamic 'activity settings'. These are time and space bound patterns of social interaction, such as classrooms, or a GP consultation. These form units through which culture and community are shaped and spread over time. Hence, when for example, introducing an intervention to hospitals or schools within different education or health systems, stakeholders might analyse the activity settings within schools or hospitals, and differences and similarity between original and new contexts in terms of roles, funds, physical resources, symbols, people (McLaren and Hawe, 2005) and how the interaction of these elements create experiences for people within and across these settings. The goal of this would be to understand the dynamics of the settings into which interventions will be introduced.
- Wang, Moss and Hiller (2005) present a framework for applicability (whether an intervention can be implemented in a new context, which they describe as synonymous with 'feasibility') and transferability (whether if implemented, it will work in the same way. Considerations for the former include). Considerations for applicability include fit with political environment, acceptability to the public, cultural fit (with or without adaptation), availability of resources, ability of target population to understand and engage with the intervention, ability of organisations to deliver the intervention. Considerations for transferability include, the prevalence of the problem in the new context relative to the original context, characteristics of the target population and capacity to implement the intervention.
- The CICI framework (Pfadenhauer et al. 2017) defines key domains of context whose similarity and difference may be of relevance when considering intervention-context fit. These cover geographical (the physical environment, landscapes and resources available in a given setting), epidemiological (the distribution of diseases or conditions, the attributable burden of disease, as well as determinants of needs in populations), socio-cultural (historically derived and selected ideas and values that are shared among members of a group), socio-economic (the social and economic resources of a community and the access of a population to these resources), ethical (reflections of morality, which encompasses norms, rules, standards of conduct and principles that guide the decisions and behaviour of individuals and institutions), legal (the rules and regulations that have been established to protect a population's rights and societal interests) and political (distribution of power, assets and interests within a population, as well as the range of organisations involved, their interests and the formal and informal rules that govern interactions between them) aspects.
- **TRANSFER guidelines** (Munthe-Kaas et al., 2020) for systematic reviews emphasise collaborative decision making processes in understanding the transferability of systematic review findings to a new context. The authors state that a review team may i) identify a priori contextual considerations for transferability and conduct a subgroup, or regression, analysis for each transferability factor ii) interpret the results of the subgroup or regression analysis for each transferability factor and record whether they have no, minor, moderate or serious concerns regarding the transferability iii) make an overall assessment (no, minor, moderate or serious concerns) regarding the transferability of the review finding based on the concerns identified for each individual transferability factor. As this guidance is new at the time of writing, the authors state that they are generating case examples to illustrate the guidance.
Box 11. Continued

- The **Consolidated Framework for Intervention Research** (Damschroder et al., 2009) emphasises the need for interventions to be adapted in order to achieve fit with new contexts and comprises 5 core interacting domains for framing thinking and decision making. These are intervention characteristics, outer setting, inner setting, characteristics of the individuals involved, and the process of implementation. The outer setting includes more macro-level characteristics of context (i.e. the economic, political, and social context within which an organization resides), and the inner setting includes features such as networks and communication, implementation climate and organisational cultures through which the implementation process will proceed.
- The WHO-INTEGRATE framework (Rehfuess et al., 2019) aids with evidence to decision making processes and takes complexity in the intervention and its interaction with the system (e.g. health system, society) in which it is to be implemented into account. It specifies criteria and considerations for teams using evidence to inform decisions on health interventions, which influence whether an intervention is likely to work in a given context. These include i) the balance of health benefits and harms, ii) human rights and sociocultural acceptability, iii) health equity, equality and non-discrimination, iv) societal implications, v) financial and economic considerations, and feasibility and health system considerations, as well as the meta-criterion of quality of evidence.
- **Realist evaluation** (Pawson and Tilley 1997) has been highly influential in thinking about context. From this perspective, interventions 'work' by introducing mechanisms which are sufficiently suited to their contexts to produce change. Hence, attention is placed on understanding context-mechanism-outcome configurations. The presence or absence of the contextual conditions necessary for intervention mechanisms to activate change becomes a key focus in understanding transferability of effects. Bonell and colleagues (2020) have proposed a realist framework for local decisions on whether to implement interventions evaluated as effective elsewhere.

A range of quantitative methods are emerging for modelling context and transferability. These include methods based on weighting original study data to the characteristics of a new population (Westreich et al., 2017). These may be useful in data-rich environments, where contextual effect modifiers are known and data on their population distribution are available in the new context. Methods such as agent-based modelling are increasingly used to build hypothetical models of the effects of interventions under varying assumptions regarding context (Badham et al., 2018). These might usefully be applied to simulating effects for the intervention, varying key parameters of the intervention and/or context, to simulate how outcomes might differ. This may enable estimation of how effects of the intervention might vary with context, and how making different adaptations might amplify or mitigate this, enabling fuller theorisation around intervention-context fit. Though offering promise, simulation based methods make a large number of assumptions, and require empirical verification (Sridhar and Majumder, 2020).

6.2.6 Consider intellectual property issues

Defined interventions may sometimes be franchised as a branded product, which may in some cases include constraints on the degree of adaptation allowed. This may be as simple as mandating use of a brand name which is not well received in a new context, or deeper aspects of the composition of the intervention. If constraints are likely to make intervention-context fit unachievable, selection of a different intervention may be necessary. However, evaluations typically generate insights into the kind of mechanisms which work to solve population health problems rather than being entirely specific to the product evaluated. Hence, it may be that a new, locally branded intervention can build on the insights from similar interventions elsewhere, without being constrained by limits placed on adaptation of the specific branded programme by its developers. Hence, what is being transported to a new context is not the intervention as a defined 'product', but its programme theory. Where the developer of the intervention, or holder of any intellectual property rights, is not a partner in adaptation, legal advice may be needed on whether plans avoid contraventions of intellectual property rights to avoid later legal challenges. Development of open-source, rather than proprietary interventions, is increasingly encouraged as license fees may act as a major barrier to their use by other groups, particularly in lower resource contexts (Gomide et al., 2016). Where choosing between two potentially suitable interventions, all else being equal, if one is open-source and the other is not, selecting the open-source intervention is likely to be preferable.

Box 12. Illustrative case examples for issues to think through in selecting an intervention for a new context

• Where selecting an intervention on the basis it has worked elsewhere, it is important to critically consider the robustness effectiveness claims. The Strengthening Families Programme demonstrated good effects on child outcomes in US studies, but numerous attempts to replicate these in European studies have failed. Potential reasons may include adaptations which undermine the functioning of the intervention. For example, in an ineffective Swedish replication of the Strengthening Families Programme (SFP), adaptations included doubling class sizes to which children's sessions were delivered (Skärstrand et al., 2013), which may have altered the dynamics of the intervention, making it more feasible to implement but less effective. Others have argued that possible explanations include selective outcome reporting by the original study team, which casts some doubt on whether the intervention worked prior to its being transferred to new contexts (Gorman, 2017).

Box 12. Continued

- In considering contextual similarities and differences, some contextual differences are more important than others. The school based smoking prevention intervention ASSIST showed good population-level impacts on smoking uptake (Campbell et al., 2008). Sub-group analyses indicated that effects were greater in Welsh valleys contexts. These are areas characterised by high rates of smoking, strong social ties and relatively stable social networks, with limited inward and outward migration of pupils between schools. Hence, insights on contextual variability within the original study suggest that confidence in transferability may be greatest where a new context is also characterised by high smoking and strong, relatively stable, social ties. A recent study of the ASSIST intervention in Scotland found challenges using this in a contemporary Scottish context where smoking rates had become very low (Dobbie et al., 2019). Ongoing work is exploring the transferability of ASSIST to lower- and middle-income contexts. Intuitively, one may assume that differences between these new contexts and the original study context will be substantial. It may however be that these contexts are similar in ways which are important for intervention mechanisms to be activated, such as contextual contingencies of high smoking rates and strong community ties. While some adaptation to form may be essential in order to work within very different education systems, the functions may therefore be transferable.
- Differences in an intervention's effect sizes may be driven by differences in usual care. Löfholm and colleagues (2013) conducted a review of trials of 'multi-systemic therapy', an intervention to address anti-social behaviour in at-risk young people. This identified substantial variation in effect sizes between contexts. The authors characterised 'treatment as usual' comparison conditions in each of the studies, finding that in contexts such as Sweden the intervention was only marginally different to usual care. Outcomes for participants in 'treatment as usual' groups differed more across contexts than did outcomes in the 'intervention' group. Selection of an intervention which is similar to usual practice may ensure feasibility, but may sometimes add little to improving outcomes.
- Existing interventions may have proprietary restrictions which limit their usefulness for new contexts. Gomide and colleagues (2016) identified that web based smoking cessation interventions in the Portuguese language did not follow evidence-based principles. However, those which did, but were not available in Portuguese, were hosted on proprietary platforms whose costs were considered prohibitive for lower- and middle-income countries. Hence, the team built a new local intervention informed by the principles of evidence-based platforms, rather than paying to use and adapt existing proprietary interventions.

6.3 Plan for and undertake adaptations

6.3.1 Identify and respond to contextual constraints and facilitators

Consideration of intervention-context fit will likely have identified a range of constraints and facilitators to the use of the intervention in the new context. Considering these together, decisions need to be made on whether they can be addressed, and what adaptations might be undertaken to achieve this. It may be concluded that constraints are insurmountable, in which case termination of the adaptation process and movement back to intervention development (or selection of a different intervention) may be recommended. However, adaptations to address contextual constraints and

draw upon local facilitators will often be possible. An adaptation team may begin by brainstorming ideas for how adaptations might respond to these constraints and draw upon local facilitators. Sometimes, adaptations to make an intervention easier to implement can however undermine effectiveness. Hence, for proposed adaptations (individually and as a whole), consideration needs to be given to how these are likely to impact on effectiveness. The Model for Adaptation Design and Impact (MADI) framework (Kirk et al., 2020), provides one useful tool for considering these issues, and classifying adaptations in terms of hypothesised impacts on the causal logic of an intervention (Proctor et al., 2011) (see Figure 3).

Adaptation commonly involves addition of new actions to address contextual constraints. However, streamlining an intervention might sometimes improve feasibility while still fulfilling intended functions at lower cost. Approaches such as network meta-analyses might usefully inform identification of aspects of an intervention which are critical to maintaining functioning, and conversely, which could be removed to improve feasibility without undermining the functioning of the intervention (Molloy et al., 2018). Process evaluation data may also provide evidence that some aspects of the intervention were poorly delivered in the original evaluation, and/or appeared to make little or no contribution to intervention effects.

There was majority agreement, though not consensus, within our Delphi exercise that addressing constraints to intervention-context fit sometimes requires changes to both the intervention and the context. For example, a period of engagement may be needed to enhance buy-in and create a fertile context for implementation. It can sometimes be difficult to distinguish whether an adaptation represents a change to the intervention or to the context. Indeed, from a systems perspective, boundaries placed around 'intervention' and 'context' are somewhat artificial. One distinction lies in whether the adaptation is offered specifically for the benefit of intervention participants or reflects a change with wider anticipated benefits beyond the intervention population.

6.3.2 Adapt intervention materials

Having considered candidate adaptations to achieve intervention-context fit, these can be brought together into a detailed set of intervention materials, including all proposed adaptations, and their rationale. This may include as an updated programme theory, manual, protocols and delivery plan. Our Delphi exercise reached consensus that it was important to consider whether programme theory would need adaptation to achieve intervention-context fit. Changes may include specifying different inputs and resources which will be used to deliver intervention activities in the new contexts, tailored intervention activities, and differences in anticipated interactions with context. However, in our qualitative work, many emphasised that the goal of adaptation was to maintain consistency with intervention mechanisms in a different context. Interviewees argued that if intervention mechanisms were significantly modified, this can be considered a new intervention. Hence, consistent with the MADI framework described in Section 6.3.1, an adapted manual might specify how the package of adaptations as a whole is expected to both achieve intervention-context fit, and ensure activation of intended mechanisms. Clearly documenting processes through which proposed adaptations were considered and accepted as appropriate, or rejected as inappropriate, will provide a useful basis for subsequent iterative efforts to capture and classify responsive adaptations (see Section 6.4.5). Where a team consider an intervention to have undergone sufficient adaptation as to have become a 'new' intervention, we recommend using our guidance in conjunction with INDEX guidance (O'Cathain et al., 2019a; O'Cathain et al., 2019b).

Figure 3 MADI framework reproduced from Kirk et al (2020)



6.3.3 Consider potential for unintended consequences

Key characteristics of the complex systems into which interventions are delivered include unpredictability and emergence, which includes potential to give rise to unanticipated consequences (Bicket et al., 2020). An intervention may replicate the same benefits in a new context because contextual contingencies necessary for the intervention to work are present, and the intervention is feasible to implement. However, interactions with other features of a new context may mean it has unintended consequences not observed in the original evaluation. It may be possible to anticipate some unintended consequences in advance, through theorising interactions with the new context, and how these might cause unintended consequences (Bonell et al., 2015). However, ongoing qualitative work throughout subsequent stages of piloting, evaluation and implementation may be useful to capture emergence of unintended 'side effects' in the new context and develop plans to mitigate them. Guidance for handling complexity in intervention research published after completion of our Delphi exercise, places strong emphasises the importance of developing protocols with a degree of flexibility to respond to emerging issues as they arise (Bicket et al., 2020).

6.3.4 Consider costs and resources needed for the adapted intervention

Consideration of resources is likely to form part of earlier assessments of differences and similarities between contexts, and to feed into adaptation decisions. However, once a concrete adapted intervention model has been developed, revisiting the impact of context and adaptations on costs and resources can be useful. As discussed in Section 5, our Delphi exercises reached consensus that the likelihood of saving resources by adapting an existing intervention was a key motivation for doing so rather than developing a new one. However, because interventions will work with differing local resources, and costs of delivering an intervention may differ substantially between contexts, this assumption may not be upheld if costs in the new context are much higher. Hence, where analysis of costs has been conducted within a previous evaluation, these can be compared with estimated costs in the new context, considering whether the cost of the adapted intervention is likely to be too resource intensive, a team may decide to move back to further adapt the intervention model, to selection of another intervention, or to development of a new intervention. Where estimated costs in the new context differ substantially to those in the original context, economic modelling may be helpful in informing a decision on whether, if as effective, it would be likely to remain cost effective.

6.3.5 Recruit individuals and groups to deliver the intervention

Once a firm decision is made to proceed with an adapted intervention, beginning to identify and recruit a network of individuals and groups who are likely to be involved in delivery, and building expertise in delivering the intervention, are important prior to moving forward to piloting. This may involve recruiting community organisations, public, private and charitable sector organisations. It may involve providing training and support to a workforce similar to the group who delivered the original intervention. For example, while roles will vary across contexts, most societies will include groups such as teachers, general practitioners and law enforcement officers, who may be delivery agents for a range of interventions. However, interventions developed in higher income contexts which are being adapted for lower income contexts will often be embedded into the roles of workforces which do not exist in the same form in the new context. Where this is the case, a key focus for adaptation may be 'task shifting', focused on identifying whether the intervention can be accommodated into the roles of another group of practitioners, while maintaining its effectiveness (Divan et al., 2015).

Box 13. Illustrative case examples for issues to think through in planning and undertaking adaptations

- Sometimes an intervention will need to be adapted to overcome contextual constraints. In adapting a health behaviour intervention for people with impaired mobility, Betts and colleague (Betts et al., 2018) made a number of adaptations to reduce barriers, such as combining in-person sessions with conference calls and providing arm-based activity trackers.
- Aspects of the context itself may need to be addressed before an intervention can be introduced. A high profile example of a population health intervention where changes to the context were needed prior to implementation is smoke-free legislation. Concerted efforts were made to change public attitudes and increase public acceptability prior to implementation, to maximise the likelihood of successful implementation. These efforts achieved varying success across a range of contexts, with compliance very high in the UK but lower in nations such as Greece (Melonashi, 2017).
- In theorising how an adapted intervention will work in the new context, it is useful to consider potential for unintended consequences. Minimum unit pricing has shown good initial effects in Scotland (Christie, 2019), and has recently been implemented in Wales. As England has not introduced this, some concerns have been raised about cross-border sales. Scotland has a narrow border with England and most of its population live some distance from it, making cross-border sales unlikely to occur on a large scale. Some argue that with Wales' lengthier border, cross-border sales may be more of a problem, with large grocery shopping trips moving outside of Wales. Evaluation may need to focus on whether this contextually contingent unintended consequence occurs to confirm or counter these concerns.
- Interventions will work with different financial and human resources in a different context. An intervention for pre-school children diagnosed with autism was delivered by speech and language therapists in higher income countries, but was adapted to enable delivery by non-specialists in South Asian contexts where a similar trained workforce was not available (Divan et al., 2015). Positive effects of the original intervention were replicated in a new RCT (Rahman et al. 2016).

6.4 Plan for and undertake piloting and evaluation

6.4.1 Consider the extent and type of evaluation warranted

Our Delphi surveys indicated consensus that decisions on whether to proceed with implementing an adapted intervention, adapt further, or terminate, ought to be informed by evidence of i) feasibility, ii) acceptability (to participants and implementers), iii) effectiveness and iv) cost effectiveness. However, for interventions with a prior evidence base, much of this evidence may be 'borrowed' from prior evaluations rather than needing to be undertaken in full again prior to implementation. Reflecting this view, the only guidance our systematic review identified for deciding on the extent of re-evaluation emphasised notions of 'borrowing strength' (Aarons et al., 2017) from prior evidence, with re-evaluations depending on the degree and nature of similarity and difference in contexts. The type and extent of re-evaluation warranted is a qualitative judgement for an adaptation team to make, based on many of the same considerations which are likely to have shaped decisions on intervention selection and the degree of adaptation needed. These will include i) the quality and nature of prior evidence (see Section 6.2.4), and ii) (un)certainty regarding the applicability of this

evidence to the new context (see Section 6.2.5). While it is usually a good idea to undertake some form of evaluation, where prior evidence is robust and uncertainty minimal, evaluation might be embedded within implementation, using routine data and natural experimental designs rather than being conducted as a discrete phase prior to an implementation decision. This is consistent with principles of MRC guidance for developing and evaluating interventions, and MRC guidance for process evaluation (Moore et al., 2014; Moore et al., 2015a), which emphasise the importance of focusing evaluation on uncertainties posed by introducing a new intervention into a complex system. The team will also need to consider the extent to which evaluation will aim to primarily inform decision making in the specific new context (in which case, a less controlled evaluation of effects may be sufficient), or to build additional review-level evidence on how an intervention functions in different contexts.

Discussions at our expert workshops and with our advisory group identified Bayesian logic as a potentially useful approach for adaptation teams to consider in structuring thinking about uncertainty. Bayesian analyses focus on the relative likelihood of two competing conclusions (e.g. no effect or a pre-specified effect size). Bayesian logic has been applied to both quantitative (Heino et al., 2018) and qualitative approaches (Befani and Stedman-Bryce, 2017), and may be particularly relevant to adaptation research, given emphasis on the impact of prior knowledge on relative likelihood. Where there is no prior reason to believe success is more likely than failure, probability estimates of one outcome or the other will be 0.5, just like the flip of a coin. For interventions which do have a prior evidence base, a team may make a qualitatively driven decision to adjust confidence estimates based on this prior information (Befani and Stedman-Bryce, 2017). Estimates of confidence in achieving the desired outcome may be increased where an intervention has prior good quality evidence, and intervention-context fit is considered good. It may be down-rated where there are significant uncertainties regarding underpinning evidence and/or intervention-context fit. Plans to collect new evidence can then be formed which explicitly focus on updating a group's estimates of likelihood, through seeking confirming and disconfirming information. This might involve specifying associations short of another full effectiveness evaluation whose presence or absence would increase or reduce confidence that effects do transfer. For example, Heino and colleagues (2018) argue that Bayesian approaches function well with small sample sizes, and use within small scale pilot work might give investigators important signals on whether mechanisms necessary for intervention effects to occur are activated. Where the primary uncertainty relates to whether these mechanisms will be activated in the new context, this may update likelihood estimates sufficiently for a decision on implementation to be reached.

6.4.2 Consider the value of information to policymakers, practitioners, and other stakeholders

In our meeting with our advisory group prior to our Delphi exercise, discussions suggested that combining Aarons and colleagues' ideas of 'borrowing strength' from previous evaluations with a value of information perspective could be helpful. Subsequently, there was consensus among our Delphi exercises that the value of new information to decision-makers was an important consideration at this stage. New information comes at a financial cost. While research is likely to be motivated by more than its instrumental role in informing a specific decision at a single point in time, considering what value this will add to decision-making can be helpful (Bindels et al., 2016). Formal value of information (VOI) analyses involves modelling, which weighs up the value of information against the cost of obtaining it (Fenwick et al., 2020). For adaptation studies, the principal decision for which a VOI analysis may be useful might be whether to commit to implementation, or to postpone a decision until new evaluation can be undertaken. Hence, VOI analyses may involve modelling whether the opportunity cost of delaying a decision to implement is outweighed by benefits of waiting for new evidence, leading to an "implement now, research later" recommendation, or vice versa (Tuffaha et al., 2015).

6.4.3 Consider resources available for evaluation

Many interventions are introduced in contexts where there are limited resources available to undertake a large expensive evaluation. This may be the case in Lower- and Middle-Income Countries (LMICs) or other lower resource contexts, where stakeholders are interested in importing effective interventions from elsewhere into their setting. Nevertheless, some of the largest evaluations take place in resource poor settings, funded by international development or philanthropic organisations. There are an increasing number of funding streams which aim to link researchers across low- and high-income contexts to build expertise and capacity for evaluation research across both. Within high income settings, political actors may nevertheless choose to allocate limited resources to evaluation research, in which case resource availability may still be limited. Hence, resource considerations will play a major role in determining what evaluation work is undertaken. Where resource is limited, this needs to be targeted strategically toward understanding the most important uncertainties that are feasible to address. For example, where there is good evidence an intervention has worked elsewhere, simpler monitoring of changes in the intended outcomes, and qualitative exploration of potential novel unintended consequences, may be prioritised. 6.4.4 Evaluate feasibility and consider further adaptations based on feedback Once an adapted intervention model has been agreed in principle, small scale testing is useful to understand feasibility, practicalities of implementation, to troubleshoot issues with stakeholders and further adapt the intervention if warranted. Consistent with Eldridge and colleagues, we consider a 'pilot' to be one form of feasibility study, in which elements of an intervention are tested in miniature (Eldridge et al., 2016a; Eldridge et al., 2016b). The extent of feasibility testing will depend on the degree and nature of uncertainty regarding whether the adapted intervention can be successfully delivered. Where uncertainty is minimal regarding effectiveness, piloting may be embedded within a move straight to full implementation. In these instances, piloting of data monitoring structures which will be integrated into the roll out of the intervention may be helpful. Where another full evaluation of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness is warranted, testing aspects of the evaluation design for which there is uncertainty is important at this stage.

6.4.5 Document and classify responsive adaptations

Our qualitative interviews, and responses within our Delphi exercise, emphasised that while adaptations can usefully be pre-planned where issues with intervention-context fit are identified in advance, adaptation will usually continue as an intervention is delivered. While 2008 MRC guidance acknowledged the degree of adaptation 'allowed' as a dimension of complexity (Craig and Petticrew, 2013), from complexity science perspectives, adaptation inevitably occurs as a consequence of introducing change into a complex system, rather than being allowed. Interventions often take on the characteristics of complex systems (Shiell et al., 2008). One of these is that systems self-organise through the collective actions of agents forming them, rather than being hierarchically controlled. Introduction of change into a system generates feedback, which will lead delivery agents to use local knowledge and expertise to adjust their practices in an ongoing way. Delivering an intervention is an active and creative process (Horton et al., 2018), and ongoing responsive adaptation can be considered as an intrinsic part of this. This becomes problematic only when it causes delivery to stray from the theoretical principles of the intervention or undermine its mechanisms (Bumbarger and Perkins, 2008). Spontaneous changes which compromise intervention functioning may be most likely where intervention protocols are defined in a manner which offers insufficient flexibility (Richard et al., 2015). Qualitative responses within our Delphi surveys emphasised that responsive adaptation was important, but that it was important to have systematic processes in place to document adaptations and agree how these would be classified in terms of whether they fit with, or contradicted, the underlying programme theory. Developing an agreed framework for categorising adaptations as (in)consistent with programme theory, which draws upon both academic and practitioner knowledge and experience, can enable guidance for intervention delivery to be

continuously updated with the kinds of responsive adaptations which are, or are not, considered likely to undermine the overall functioning of an intervention (Holliday et al., 2009). As described in Section 6.3.2, a team will ideally have undertaken a systematic process for considering the likely impact of pre-planned adaptations on the integrity of the intervention. This stage will involve extending these principles to assessment of the suitability or unsuitability of responsive adaptations. Documenting and classifying adaptations is likely to be an ongoing and iterative process as an intervention moves forward to full implementation, and indeed as it is maintained at scale. Box 14 provides discussion of emerging guidance on documenting and classifying adaptations and a case example.

Box 14. Capturing and classifying responsive adaptations

Miller and colleagues (2020) article on Iterative Decision-making on Evaluation of Adaptations was published shortly after our systematic review was complete, and draws attention to the iterative nature of intervention adaptation processes.

Where data or stakeholder feedback indicate adaptations are necessary, and core functions and processes of the intervention are known, a team can consider whether adaptations can be made which enable barriers to be addressed in a manner which remains consistent with core functions. Using FRAME (see Figure 4), the authors discuss classifying adaptations using the following questions: When did adaptation occur? Were adaptations planned? Who participated in the decision to adapt? What was the goal? What was modified? What is the nature of the content modification? Reflections on whether adaptations enhance intervention-context fit while maintaining integrity to process and functions, and analysis of programme data on the impacts of introducing the adaptation on proxy indicators such as participant engagement, may then inform decisions on whether adaptations are integrated in future iterations of the intervention, or adapt in alternative ways.

While the authors present uses of the framework at the programme level, they present discussion of how its principles might also be applied to more responsive micro-level adaptations occurring in local practice.

An illustrative case example of classifying emerging adaptations is a study by Betts and colleague (2018), who undertook a community-based participatory research study adapting an intervention to reduce barriers to accessing a health behaviour intervention among people with impaired mobility. While some changes were pre-planned, several additional barriers came to light leading to further *responsive* adaptations. These included offering make up sessions, and adding content and activities on goal setting, problem solving, planning, peer support, reflection, and motivation. During delivery, monthly meetings were held between researchers and intervention staff to discuss emerging challenges and responsive adaptations. Responsive adaptations agreed by this group were then carried forward as planned adaptations in future iterations.

6.4.6 Undertake evaluation of effectiveness, cost-effectiveness and process (if warranted)

If feasible, but a significant degree of uncertainty remains about whether it will work in the new context, a full evaluation of effectiveness, cost-effectiveness and process may be needed. A number of resources exist for deciding on the most appropriate design for evaluating effectiveness (Hopkins et al., 2020). Where a randomised controlled trial is feasible, this will be the most robust of estimating effects, but for many population health interventions, natural experiment designs may be more appropriate (Craig et al., 2012). In cases, where there is only modest uncertainty on whether effects will be replicated, and the 'equipoise' necessary to form the ethical basis for randomisation is not present, alternative methods such as designs with matched comparisons may be favoured. These may be embedded within a full implementation rather than forming a discrete prior phase if delaying implementation is not deemed to be warranted. It is often difficult to generate conclusive evidence on the contribution that adapting an intervention has made to maintaining (or reducing) effectiveness. Some studies have tried to isolate impacts of adaptation by directly comparing standard delivery of an evidence based intervention with a culturally adapted version of the same intervention (Burrow-Sánchez et al., 2015). There are limited scenarios in which this might be possible; where adaptation is undertaken because an intervention is simply not feasible without it, any such comparison will be with a poorly delivered version of the original intervention. Process evaluations (Moore et al., 2014; Moore et al., 2015a) of adapted interventions might usefully pay attention to understanding perceived impacts of adaptations on intervention-context fit, as well as exploring unintended harms and mechanisms. These may build on aspects of prior process evaluations within the original evaluation, for example to allow between study comparisons on measures of implementation. They may further the evidence base for the intervention by extending understandings of implementation, mechanisms and context generated by earlier evaluation.

Box 15 Case examples relating to evaluating interventions in a new context

- Decisions on what kind of evaluation is needed will be driven by where uncertainties lie, and how significant they are. The Football Fans in Training intervention was an effective weight loss intervention for male football fans, delivered via sports clubs in Scotland (Hunt et al., 2020). It was scaled out to football and other sporting contexts in Australia, Canada, New Zealand, England and elsewhere in Europe. In some cases, where adaptations were deemed minor, light touch pre-post evaluation or feasibility studies was undertaken. Where adaptations were deemed moderate or substantial, another RCT was undertaken.
- Value of information assessments can aid decisions on whether a full evaluation is warranted prior to implementation. Evidence from a systematic review and meta-analysis of nutritional support for preventing pressure ulcers in high-risk patients formed the basis of a decision model on whether to implement the intervention now or evaluate prior to implementation. This informed a decision that the opportunity cost of delaying outweighed the value of new evaluation. Hence, this informed a recommendation to implement now, and research later (Tuffaha et al., 2015)

Box 15. Continued

- Some feasibility testing prior to a new evaluation, or wider implementation can be useful. The Nutrition And Physical Activity Self-Assessment for Child Care (NAP SACC) intervention showed positive impacts in the US, and was adapted for the UK (Kipping et al., 2019). Adaptations included revision of self-assessment tools to context-specific local concerns, as well as changing the labelling of these as a self-assessment forms to 'review and reflect' forms to avoid evoking language associated with that used by government inspectors. The number of action planning goals due to concerns with capacity and workload of implementing staff. The team undertook a substantial feasibility study with nested pilot RCT testing the intervention in full in 5 nurseries. A full scale RCT is in progress.
- Feasibility testing may indicate that progression is not warranted. Healthy Dads Healthy Kids is a weight management programme for fathers of primary school-aged children and their children, with 90-minute training sessions over 9 weeks. It showed effects on weight loss in Australia, and was adapted to increase cultural acceptability to a multi-ethnic UK population (Griffin et al., 2019). However, in piloting, the team were unable to meet their recruitment targets and identifying appropriately skilled programme facilitators proved challenging. A decision was made not to proceed with the intervention without further adaptation.
- Responsive adaptations will occur as interventions are implemented. In delivering the National Exercise Referral Scheme in Wales, some local area coordinators highlighted a shortage of community-based low intensity physical activity opportunities for patients to move onto after the scheme as a major barrier to continued exercise after the scheme. Some began to build low intensity classes into schedules for their centres. Coordinators commented that offering a wider range of lower intensity classes, which were not initiated specifically for scheme patients, changed the culture of leisure centres and availability of classes for users beyond scheme patients (Moore, 2010).
- In some cases, it might be possible to compare an intervention with or without adaptation to test whether adaptation maintains or enhances effectiveness; adaptations may not enhance population impacts but might still reduce inequalities. Burrow-Sanchez and colleagues (2015) evaluated an evidence-based cognitive behavioural therapy-based intervention for reducing adolescent substance use, delivered as per original manuals. This was compared against a culturally adapted form of the same intervention, tailored for Latino populations. Both were found to have similar population level impacts. However, the culturally tailored version had better impacts for participants with a greater commitment to their ethnic identity.

6.5 Implement and maintain the adapted intervention at scale

6.5.1 Build sustainable partnerships, capacity and plans for maintenance

There was consensus within our Delphi exercises that building partnerships and capacity, for maintenance was important in effectively scaling out adapted interventions. Ideally, interventions will only have been selected for adaptation where there is good reason to believe that they are likely to be effective, and are likely to achieve sufficient fit to be scalable (Zamboni et al., 2019). Further, the collaborative processes described throughout will be directed toward achieving consensus on whether full implementation is warranted based on the combination of prior evidence and any new evidence generated in the new context. These will also focus on building plans for who will provide what resources to support implementation. Hence, this stage will represent a continuation of the work initiated through stakeholder groups from piloting stages onwards, including recruiting an expanded network of individuals and groups, creating and maintaining a fertile context for implementation (Ellis et al., 2020). Where moving rapidly to scale without a need for a large evaluation, a dedicated period may be needed to build these networks and wider support for the intervention. Our Delphi exercises indicated consensus that establishing a plan for maintenance is important in scaling out a new intervention. While many effective interventions are not subsequently implemented in routine practice, where adapting an intervention which has previously been found effective, there may be teams who have implemented the intervention at scale previously or are currently doing so. Engagement with these teams throughout adaptation may provide important information on challenges and solutions in taking the intervention to scale.

6.5.2 Establish data monitoring systems

Embedding systems to monitor long-term implementation and effects is useful in understanding how the intervention maintained over time, and for maintaining high quality delivery and effects at scale. Evaluations are often conducted in samples which are not representative of the intended population, and implementation can sometimes weaken as interventions move to scale. Sophisticated infrastructures are increasingly being developed for linking intervention monitoring data to routine health, education and social care data (Clarke et al., 2019), which can provide valuable mechanisms for examining intervention maintenance. For the National Exercise Referral Scheme in Wales for example, routine data linked to health care records indicates that scheme uptake dropped, and became substantially more unequal by socioeconomic status in the 10 years following positive RCT findings (Morgan et al., 2020). From a systems perspective, many evaluations are not long enough to capture non-linear intervention effects which build over time through reinforcing feedback loops. For example, improving cycling safety may increase numbers of cyclists, which may further increase safety through 'safety in numbers' effects, which may further increase cycling and so on. Hence, observational data embedded into implementation can enable ongoing analysis of whether effects increase or diminish over time. If interventions have been taken to scale elsewhere with monitoring systems built in, it may be useful to consult with teams responsible for this to harmonise monitoring systems. Where the intervention has been accompanied by high quality monitoring systems elsewhere at scale, replicating these may open potential for crosscontext comparisons and sharing of lessons regarding maintenance over time. Building in mechanisms for capturing ongoing responsive adaptations (and continuously refining the categorisation framework for defining these as consistent or inconsistent with intervention theory) is helpful in in understanding if adaptations maintain coherence with intention over time.

7. Report the adapted intervention

Transparent reporting is important for future replication efforts, and for later syntheses which pool together studies in order to understand when adaptations may or may not be necessary in new contexts (Booth et al., 2019). Systematic reviews of the effects of transported interventions have cited an absence of detail on adaptation within primary studies as limiting the ability to analyse the impacts of adaptation on intervention effectiveness (Leijten et al., 2016). This echoes a tendency for often limited reporting of how interventions were developed in the first place, which new guidance from the INDEX team aims to address (Duncan et al., 2020).

7.1 Use existing guidelines

Qualitative responses to our Delphi surveys emphasised the importance of drawing upon existing guidance for reporting interventions. There are a number of sources of existing guidance which can be drawn upon for reporting, such as the TIDIER framework (Hoffmann et al., 2014), and its recent extension to population health and policy interventions, TIDIER-PHP (Campbell et al., 2018). The latter includes a number of pertinent recommendations on reporting both planned and unplanned variations in delivery. While our systematic review identified few reporting guidance specifically for adaptations of interventions, Stirman and colleagues published the updated FRAME guidance on this topic shortly after our review was complete (Stirman et al., 2019). Hence, use of these existing guidelines is recommended as a starting point. Below, we describe a number of additional reporting considerations rated as important within our Delphi surveys, or identified through subsequent expert workshops.



Figure 4. FRAME guidance, reproduced from Stirman et al. (2019)

7.2 Describe the population health problem being addressed

Selection of an intervention to be adapted for a new context represents an implicit or explicit statement that there is a problem which requires intervention, and that the proposed intervention represents a potential solution to this. Hence, articulating the rationale for intervention is crucial. This may involve referring to up-to-date studies reporting the prevalence and patterning of the population health problem (e.g. smoking, obesity) and how this 'epidemiological context' compares to the original intervention context, or other contexts in which the intervention has been successfully evaluated.

7.3 Describe the original intervention and its context and report its evidence base

In many cases, an intervention selected for adaptation will already be described in a number of evaluation articles and grey literature. There may be a publicly available intervention manual including a logic model and programme theory. Other groups who have since used the intervention elsewhere may have further adapted these materials. Hence, reporting clear linkage to the provenance of the original intervention via referencing and signposting to other sources may reduce the need to dedicate space to describe these issues in detail. Where this is not available, constructing a clear description of the original intervention and programme theory, perhaps from information obtained by contacting developers, structured according to existing intervention reporting frameworks is a useful starting point. This will include providing details of the programme theory.

7.4 Describe the new context, and important similarities and differences to the original context

Decisions on what is adapted and how adaptations are made are likely to be driven in large part by considerations relating to the similarity and difference of previous and new, and hence intervention-context fit. Hence, reporting on aspects of context which were considered in making these assessments will add transparency to these processes, and support evolution of a wider evidence base on what kinds of contextual considerations matter in adapting interventions for new contexts. This will include reporting any frameworks used to decide on which aspects of context mattered for transferability and adaptation.

7.5 Describe the rationale, type and processes undertaken to adapt the intervention, including which stakeholders were involved

In our audit of published studies, we found that it is often unclear why decisions were made to undertake certain adaptations (and not others). Further, understanding the extent to which the intervention is the same as, or different to, the original intervention requires clear reporting of the type and extent of adaptation. Reporting on the processes followed in undertaking adaptations, including who were the key decision makers, and how decisions were taken, and how wider publics were involved, represents an important means of building an evidence base regarding how best to undertake adaptations. This may include reference to sources of guidance drawn upon in making decisions and implementing and evaluating adaptations. Describing the process of adaptation will also include describing which stakeholders were involved, at which stages and how, including decision-making processes and how any conflicts of interest were managed (see Section 6.1).

7.6 Describe the adapted intervention in detail to enable replication

As with any intervention study, it is important that the adapted intervention is described in sufficient detail to enable replication. Existing guidance such as TIDIeR (Hoffmann et al., 2014) and TIDIeR-PHP (Campbell et al., 2018) are particularly useful here. This may focus in particular on describing what was different about the adapted intervention relative to the original intervention, paying attention to TIDIeR-PHP items in reporting planned and unplanned variations in delivery (Campbell et al., 2018). This will include a focus both on variation between the original and adapted intervention, and variation in delivery within the new context.

7.7 Describe how well the adapted intervention was delivered in the new context

Frameworks for reporting interventions such as TIDIeR and TIDIeR-PHP emphasise the importance of capturing the fidelity of the intervention. It may be useful to base fidelity assessments on tools used for any earlier evaluation in order to enable comparability of fidelity between contexts. These tools may themselves need adapting to capture how well adapted aspects of the intervention are delivered. However, as described in Section 3, fidelity is an area of ongoing conceptual development, and fidelity assessment tools from older studies may not be considered fit for purpose, in which case bespoke assessment tools may be needed to capture and report these. Description of how an intervention was delivered may draw on a combination of quantitative assessments and qualitative process evaluation data. Describing participants' engagement with the intervention, including socio-demographic patterning, is important in understanding both the likely population level impact of the intervention and its equity impacts.

7.8 Describe the rationale for the type of re-evaluation undertaken in the new context

As described in Section 6.4, we found very limited guidance for decision-making regarding what type of evaluation was needed in the new context. Hence, describing the rationale for these choices, based on a clear articulation of the uncertainties posed by the intervention in the new context, may be helpful in both encouraging teams to systematically think through these decisions, and enabling understandings of how these decisions are made to inform this area of guidance.

7.9 Describe the role of original intervention developers in the adaptation

As discussed in Section 6.1, involvement of intervention developers is likely to be helpful in terms of providing nuanced information on the intervention, but also brings potential conflicts of interest. Describing the role of developers in the adaptation of the intervention for the new context if applicable, including how conflicts of interest were managed, was highlighted by our expert panel as an additional reporting recommendation.

8. Conclusions

We have presented a new framework for key issues to think through in adapting an intervention for a new context. We hope that this will help decision-making by researchers, funders, journal editors and policy and practice stakeholders when adapting interventions for a new context. As we have seen with iterative revisions of the MRC guidance for development and evaluation of interventions, such guidance can be an event within evidence production systems, which influences the behaviour of key actors, with the goal of producing better and more appropriately used evidence. Guidance is therefore not a definitive conclusion to the conversation in developing emerging methodologies, but a starting point for ongoing innovation and methodological development. We hope that the application of our guidance over time will generate feedback which might reinforce its recommendations, and lead to further refinement. Hence, we welcome feedback from users of the guidance on how it might be improved in future iterations.

9. References

- Aarons GA, Sklar M, Mustanski B, et al. (2017) "Scaling-out" evidence-based interventions to new populations or new health care delivery systems. *Implementation Science* 12: 111.
- Amrhein V, Greenland S and McShane B. (2019) Scientists rise up against statistical significance. *Nature*: 205-307.
- Axford N, Berry V, Lloyd J, et al. (2020) Promoting learning from null or negative results in prevention science trials. *Prevention Science*: 1-13.
- Badham J, Chattoe-Brown E, Gilbert N, et al. (2018) Developing agent-based models of complex health behaviour. *Health & Place* 54: 170-177.
- Barnes J, Stuart J, Allen E, et al. (2017) Randomized controlled trial and economic evaluation of nurse-led group support for young mothers during pregnancy and the first year postpartum versus usual care. *Trials* 18: 508.
- Beard E, Dienes Z, Muirhead C, et al. (2016) Using Bayes factors for testing hypotheses about intervention effectiveness in addictions research. *Addiction* 111: 2230-2247.
- Bedwell C and Lavender T. (2020) Giving patients a voice: implementing patient and public involvement to strengthen research in sub-Saharan Africa. J Epidemiol Community Health 74: 307-310.
- Befani B and Stedman-Bryce G. (2017) Process tracing and Bayesian updating for impact evaluation. *Evaluation* 23: 42-60.
- Betts AC, Froehlich-Grobe K, Driver S, et al. (2018) Reducing barriers to healthy weight: Planned and responsive adaptations to a lifestyle intervention to serve people with impaired mobility. *Disability and Health Journal* 11: 315-323.
- Bicket M, Christie I, Gilbert N, et al. (2020) Supplementary guide. Handling Complexity in Policy Evaluation. In: HM Treasury, Magenta Book 2020. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_ data/file/879437/Magenta_Book_supplementary_guide._Handling_Complexity_in_policy_e valuation.pdf
- Bindels J, Ramaekers B, Ramos IC, et al. (2016) Use of value of information in healthcare decision making: exploring multiple perspectives. *Pharmacoeconomics* 34: 315-322.
- Blair M. (2014) Getting evidence into practice—implementation science for paediatricians. *Archives* of Disease in Childhood 99: 307-309.
- Bonell C, Allen E, Christie D, et al. (2014) Initiating change locally in bullying and aggression through the school environment (INCLUSIVE): study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial. *Trials* 15: 381.
- Bonell C, Allen E, Warren E, et al. (2018) Effects of the Learning Together intervention on bullying and aggression in English secondary schools (INCLUSIVE): a cluster randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet* 392: 2452-2464.
- Bonell C, Fletcher A, Morton M, et al. (2012) Realist randomised controlled trials: a new approach to evaluating complex public health interventions. *Social Science & Medicine* 75: 2299-2306.
- Bonell C, Jamal F, Melendez-Torres G, et al. (2015) 'Dark logic': theorising the harmful consequences of public health interventions. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health* 69: 95-98.
- Bonell C, Prost A, Melendez-Torres GJ, et al. (2020) Will it work here? A realist approach to local decisions about implementing interventions evaluated as effective elsewhere. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*: jech-2020-214287.
- Booth A, Moore G, Flemming K, et al. (2019) Taking account of context in systematic reviews and guidelines considering a complexity perspective. *BMJ Global Health* 4.
- Brownson RC, Chriqui JF and Stamatakis KA. (2009) Understanding evidence-based public health policy. *American Journal of Public Health* 99: 1576-1583.
- Bumbarger B and Perkins DF. (2008) After randomised trials: issues related to dissemination of evidence-based interventions. *Journal of Children's Services* 3: 55-64.

- Burchett HED, Blanchard L, Kneale D, et al. (2018) Assessing the applicability of public health intervention evaluations from one setting to another: a methodological study of the usability and usefulness of assessment tools and frameworks. *Health Research Policy and Systems* 16: 88.
- Burrow-Sánchez JJ, Minami T and Hops H. (2015) Cultural accommodation of group substance abuse treatment for Latino adolescents: Results of an RCT. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology* 21: 571.
- Campbell M, Katikireddi SV, Hoffmann T, et al. (2018) TIDieR-PHP: a reporting guideline for population health and policy interventions. *BMJ* 361: k1079.
- Campbell M, Moore G, Evans RE, et al. (2020) ADAPT study: adaptation of evidence-informed complex population health interventions for implementation and/or re-evaluation in new contexts: protocol for a Delphi consensus exercise to develop guidance. *BMJ Open* 10: e038965.
- Campbell R, Starkey F, Holliday J, et al. (2008) An informal school-based peer-led intervention for smoking prevention in adolescence (ASSIST): a cluster randomised trial. *The Lancet* 371: 1595-1602.
- Christie B. (2019) Alcohol sales fall in Scotland a year after minimum pricing took effect. *BMJ* 365:l4296.
- Clarke GM, Conti S, Wolters AT, et al. (2019) Evaluating the impact of healthcare interventions using routine data. *BMJ* 365: I2239.
- Craig P, Cooper C, Gunnell D, et al. (2012) Using natural experiments to evaluate population health interventions: new Medical Research Council guidance. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health* 66: 1182-1186.
- Craig P, Di Ruggiero E, Frolich KL, et al. (2018) Taking account of context in population health intervention research: guidance for producers, users and funders of research. *NIHR Journals Library*.
- Craig P and Petticrew M. (2013) Developing and evaluating complex interventions: reflections on the 2008 MRC guidance. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 50: 585-587.
- Dalglish SL. (2020) COVID-19 gives the lie to global health expertise. *The Lancet* 395: 1189.
- Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, et al. (2009) Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. *Implementation Science* 4: 1-15.
- Davey C, Hargreaves J, Hassan S, et al. (2018) Designing evaluations to provide evidence to inform action in new settings. *CEDIL Inception Paper*.
- Devlin AM and Wight D. (2020) Mechanisms and context in the San Patrignano drug recovery community, Italy: a qualitative study to inform transfer to Scotland. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*: 1-12.
- Divan G, Hamdani SU, Vajartkar V, et al. (2015) Adapting an evidence-based intervention for autism spectrum disorder for scaling up in resource-constrained settings: the development of the PASS intervention in South Asia. *Global Health Action* 8: 27278.
- Dobbie F, Purves R, McKell J. et al. (2019) Implementation of a peer-led school based smoking prevention programme: a mixed methods process evaluation. *BMC Public Health* 19.1 (2019): 1-9.
- Duggleby W, Peacock S, Ploeg J, et al. (2020) Qualitative Research and Its Importance in Adapting Interventions. *Qualitative Health Research*: 1049732320920229.
- Duncan E, O'Cathain A, Rousseau N, et al. (2020) Guidance for reporting intervention development studies in health research (GUIDED): an evidence-based consensus study. *BMJ Open* 10: e033516.
- Eldridge SM, Chan CL, Campbell MJ, et al. (2016a) CONSORT 2010 statement: extension to randomised pilot and feasibility trials. *BMJ* 355: i5239.

- Eldridge SM, Lancaster GA, Campbell MJ, et al. (2016b) Defining feasibility and pilot studies in preparation for randomised controlled trials: development of a conceptual framework. *PloS One* 11.
- Ellis J, Band R, Kinsella K, et al. (2020) Optimising and profiling pre-implementation contexts to create and implement a public health network intervention for tackling loneliness. *Implementation Science* 15: 35.
- Escoffery C, Lebow-Skelley E, Haardoerfer R, et al. (2018) A systematic review of adaptations of evidence-based public health interventions globally. *Implementation Science* 13: 125.
- Evans R, Moore G, Movsisyan A, et al. (2020) How can we adapt complex population health interventions for new contexts? Progressing debates and research priorities. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health* Online ahead of print.
- Evans RE, Craig P, Hoddinott P, et al. (2019) When and how do 'effective'interventions need to be adapted and/or re-evaluated in new contexts? The need for guidance. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health* Online ahead of print.
- Fenwick E, Steuten L, Knies S, et al. (2020) Value of information analysis for research decisions—an introduction: report 1 of the ISPOR Value of Information Analysis Emerging Good Practices Task Force. *Value in Health* 23: 139-150.
- Freedland KE, King AC, Ambrosius WT, et al. (2019) The selection of comparators for randomized controlled trials of health-related behavioral interventions: recommendations of an NIH expert panel. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*. 110:74-81.
- Glasgow RE, Vogt TM and Boles SM. (1999) Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion interventions: the RE-AIM framework. *American Journal of Public Health* 89: 1322-1327.
- Gomide H, Bernardino HS, Richter K, et al. (2016) Development of an open-source web-based intervention for Brazilian smokers–Viva sem Tabaco. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making* 16: 1-8.
- Gorman DM. (2017) The decline effect in evaluations of the impact of the Strengthening Families Program for Youth 10-14 (SFP 10-14) on adolescent substance use. *Children and Youth Services Review* 81: 29-39.
- Greenhalgh T, Koh GCH and Car J. (2020) Covid-19: a remote assessment in primary care. *BMJ* 368: m1182.
- Griffin T, Sun Y, Sidhu M, et al. (2019) Healthy Dads, Healthy Kids UK, a weight management programme for fathers: feasibility RCT. *BMJ Open* 9.
- Hallingberg B, Turley R, Segrott J, et al. (2018) Exploratory studies to decide whether and how to proceed with full-scale evaluations of public health interventions: a systematic review of guidance. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies* 4: 104.
- Hawe P. (1998) Making sense of context-level influences on health. *Health Education Research* 13: i-iv.
- Hawe P, Shiell A and Riley T. (2004) Complex interventions: how "out of control" can a randomised controlled trial be? *BMJ* 328: 1561-1563.
- Hawe P, Shiell A and Riley T. (2009) Theorising interventions as events in systems. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 43: 267-276.
- Hawkins, J., Madden, K., Fletcher, A., et al. (2017). Development of a framework for the coproduction and prototyping of public health interventions. *BMC Public Health*, *17*(1), 689.
- Heino MT, Vuorre M and Hankonen N. (2018) Bayesian evaluation of behavior change interventions:
 a brief introduction and a practical example. *Health Psychology and Behavioral Medicine* 6: 49-78.
- Hoddinott P. (2015) A new era for intervention development studies. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies* 36. Hoddinott P, Craig L, Maclennan G, et al. (2012) The FEeding Support Team (FEST) randomised,
 - controlled feasibility trial of proactive and reactive telephone support for breastfeeding women living in disadvantaged areas. *BMJ Open* 2: e000652.

- Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, et al. (2014) Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. *BMJ* 348: g1687.
- Holliday J, Audrey S, Moore L, et al. (2009) High fidelity? How should we consider variations in the delivery of school-based health promotion interventions? *Health Education Journal* 68: 44-62.
- Hopkins A, Breckon J and awrence J. (2020) The Experimenter's Inventory: A catalogue of experiments for decision-makers and professionals. Nesta, London.: Alliance for Useful Evidence.
- Horton TJ, Illingworth JH and Warburton WH. (2018) Overcoming challenges in codifying and replicating complex health care interventions. *Health Affairs* 37: 191-197.
- Howarth E, Devers K, Moore G, et al. (2016) Contextual issues and qualitative research. *Challenges,* solutions and future directions in the evaluation of service innovations in health care and public health. NIHR Journals Library.
- Hunt K, Wyke S, Bunn C, et al. (2020) Scale-up and scale-out of a gender-sensitized weight management and healthy living program delivered to overweight men via professional sports clubs: the wider implementation of Football Fans in Training (FFIT). *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 17: 584.
- Hunter DJ. (2020) Covid-19 and the stiff upper lip—The pandemic response in the United Kingdom. *New England Journal of Medicine* 382: e31.
- Jolles MP, Lengnick-Hall R and Mittman BS. (2019) Core functions and forms of complex health interventions: A patient-centered medical home illustration. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 34: 1032-1038.
- Kaisler RE and Missbach B. (2020) Co-creating a patient and public involvement and engagement 'how to'guide for researchers. *Research Involvement and Engagement* 6: 1-10.
- Kanamori M, De La Rosa M, Shrader C-H, et al. (2019) Progreso en Salud: Findings from Two Adapted Social Network HIV Risk Reduction Interventions for Latina Seasonal Workers. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 16: 4530.
- Kemp L. (2016) Adaptation and fidelity: a recipe analogy for achieving both in population scale implementation. *Prevention Science* 17: 429-438.
- Kemp L. (2020) Health programme decision making and implementation science. *Community Public Health in Policy and Practice E-Book: A Sourcebook*: 199.
- Keshavarz N, Nutbeam D, Rowling L, et al. (2010) Schools as social complex adaptive systems: a new way to understand the challenges of introducing the health promoting schools concept. *Social Science & Medicine* 70: 1467-1474.
- Kipping R, Langford R, Brockman R, et al. (2019) Child-care self-assessment to improve physical activity, oral health and nutrition for 2- to 4-year-olds: a feasibility cluster RCT. *Public Health Research* 7: 13.
- Kirk MA, Haines ER, Rokoske FS, et al. (2019) A case study of a theory-based method for identifying and reporting core functions and forms of evidence-based interventions. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*.
- Kirk MA, Kelley C, Yankey N, et al. (2015) A systematic review of the use of the consolidated framework for implementation research. *Implementation Science* 11: 72.
- Kirk MA, Moore JE, Wiltsey Stirman S, et al. (2020) Towards a comprehensive model for understanding adaptations' impact: the model for adaptation design and impact (MADI). *Implementation Science* 15: 56.
- Kock L, Brown J, Hiscock R, et al. (2019) Individual-level behavioural smoking cessation interventions tailored for disadvantaged socioeconomic position: a systematic review and meta-regression. *The Lancet Public Health* 4: e628-e644.
- Koorts H, Eakin E, Estabrooks P, et al. (2018) Implementation and scale up of population physical activity interventions for clinical and community settings: the PRACTIS guide. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 15: 51.

- Lavis JN, Robertson D, Woodside JM, et al. (2003) How can research organizations more effectively transfer research knowledge to decision makers? *Milbank Quarterly* 81: 221-248.
- Leijten P, Melendez-Torres G, Knerr W, et al. (2016) Transported versus homegrown parenting interventions for reducing disruptive child behavior: A multilevel meta-regression study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry* 55: 610-617.
- Lewis CC, Lyon AR, McBain SA, et al. (2019) Testing and exploring the limits of traditional Notions of fidelity and adaptation in implementation of preventive interventions. *The Journal of Primary Prevention* 40: 137-141.
- Liss H. (2006) Publication bias in the pulmonary/allergy literature: effect of pharmaceutical company sponsorship. *IMAJ-RAMAT GAN-* 8: 451.
- Littlecott H, Hawkins J, Mann M, et al. (2019) Associations between school-based peer networks and smoking according to socioeconomic status and tobacco control context: protocol for a mixed method systematic review. *Systematic Reviews* 8: 313.
- Liu S, Yang L, Zhang C, et al. (2020) Online mental health services in China during the COVID-19 outbreak. *The Lancet Psychiatry* 7: e17-e18.
- Löfholm CA, Brännström L, Olsson M, et al. (2013) Treatment-as-usual in effectiveness studies: What is it and does it matter? *International Journal of Social Welfare* 22: 25-34.
- Marsiglia FF and Booth JM. (2015) Cultural adaptation of interventions in real practice settings. *Research on Social Work Practice* 25: 423-432.
- Maxwell SE, Lau MY and Howard GS. (2015) Is psychology suffering from a replication crisis? What does "failure to replicate" really mean? *American Psychologist* 70: 487.
- May C. (2013) Towards a general theory of implementation. *Implementation Science* 8: 18.
- McLaren L and Hawe P. (2005) Ecological perspectives in health research. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health* 59: 6-14.
- Melonashi E. (2017) The influence of tobacco control legislation on smoking rates: A review of empirical research. *Polis* 16: 133-140.
- Michie S, Yardley L, West R, et al. (2017) Developing and evaluating digital interventions to promote behavior change in health and health care: recommendations resulting from an international workshop. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 19: e232.
- Miller CJ, Wiltsey-Stirman S and Baumann AA. (2020) Iterative Decision-making for Evaluation of Adaptations (IDEA): A decision tree for balancing adaptation, fidelity, and intervention impact. *Journal of Community Psychology*.
- Miller WR and Rollnick S. (2009) Ten things that motivational interviewing is not. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy* 37: 129-140.
- Molloy G, Noone C, Caldwell D, et al. (2018) Network meta-analysis in health psychology and behavioural medicine: a primer. *Health Psychology Review* 12: 254-270.
- Moore G, Audrey S, Barker M, et al. (2014) Process evaluation of complex interventions: UK Medical Research Council (MRC) guidance. *London: MRC*.
- Moore G, Audrey S, Barker M, et al. (2015a) Process evaluation of complex interventions: Medical Research Council guidance. *British Medical Journal* 350: h1258.
- Moore GF. (2010) Developing a mixed methods framework for process evaluations of complex interventions: the case of the National Exercise Referral Scheme Policy Trial in Wales: Cardiff University.
- Moore GF, Evans RE, Hawkins J, et al. (2019) From complex social interventions to interventions in complex social systems: future directions and unresolved questions for intervention development and evaluation. *Evaluation* 25: 23-45.
- Moore GF, Littlecott HJ, Turley R, et al. (2015b) Socioeconomic gradients in the effects of universal school-based health behaviour interventions: a systematic review of intervention studies. BMC Public Health 15: 907.
- Moore JE, Bumbarger BK and Cooper BR. (2013) Examining adaptations of evidence-based programs in natural contexts. *The Journal of Primary Prevention* 34: 147-161.

- Morgan K, Rahman M and Moore G. (2020) Patterning in patient referral to and uptake of a National Exercise Referral Scheme (NERS) in Wales from 2008 to 2017: A Data Linkage Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 17: 3942.
- Movsisyan A, Arnold L, Evans R, et al. (2019) Adapting evidence-informed complex population health interventions for new contexts: a systematic review of guidance. *Implementation Science* 14: 105.
- Munthe-Kaas H, Nøkleby H, Lewin S, et al. (2020) The TRANSFER Approach for assessing the transferability of systematic review findings. *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 20: 11.
- NIHR Involve. (2018) Guidance on co-producing a research project. Available at: <u>https://www.invo.org.uk/posttypepublication/guidance-on-co-producing-a-research-project/</u>
- Nolas S-M, Neville L and Sanders-McDonagh E. (2012) Evaluation of the Community Group Programme for Children & Young People. Project Report. AVA (Against Violence & Abuse), London.
- O'Cathain A, Croot L, Duncan E, et al. (2019a) *Guidance on developing interventions to improve health and health care*. Available at:

https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/polopoly_fs/1.860611!/file/Guidanceondevelopingintervention sv1.pdf.

- O'Cathain A, Croot L, Duncan E, et al. (2019b) Guidance on how to develop complex interventions to improve health and healthcare. *BMJ Open* 9: e029954.
- O'Donnell CR, Tharp RG and Wilson K. (1993) Activity settings as the unit of analysis: A theoretical basis for community intervention and development. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 21: 501-520.
- Oliver K, Kothari A and Mays N. (2019) The dark side of coproduction: do the costs outweigh the benefits for health research? *Health Research Policy and Systems* 17: 33.
- Pawson R, and Tilley N (1997) Realistic evaluation. Sage: London.
- Petticrew M, McKee M and Marteau TM. (2018) Partnerships with the alcohol industry at the expense of public health. *The Lancet* 392.
- Petticrew M and Roberts H. (2003) Evidence, hierarchies, and typologies: horses for courses. *Journal* of Epidemiology & Community Health 57: 527-529.
- Petticrew M, Tugwell P, Kristjansson E, et al. (2012) Damned if you do, damned if you don't: subgroup analysis and equity. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 66: 95-98.
- Pfadenhauer LM, Gerhardus A, Mozygemba K, et al. (2017) Making sense of complexity in context and implementation: the Context and Implementation of Complex Interventions (CICI) framework. *Implementation Science* 12: 21.
- Pfadenhauer LM, Mozygemba K, Gerhardus A, et al. (2015) Context and implementation: a concept analysis towards conceptual maturity. *Zeitschrift für Evidenz, Fortbildung und Qualität im Gesundheitswesen* 109: 103-114.
- Power J, Gilmore B, Vallières F, et al. (2019) Adapting health interventions for local fit when scalingup: a realist review protocol. *BMJ Open* 9: e022084.
- Proctor E, Silmere H, Raghavan R, et al. (2011) Outcomes for implementation research: conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research* 38: 65-76.
- Rahman A, Divan G, Hamdani SU, et al. (2016) Effectiveness of the parent-mediated intervention for children with autism spectrum disorder in south Asia in India and Pakistan (PASS): a randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Psychiatry* 3: 128-136.
- Rehfuess EA, Stratil JM, Scheel IB, et al. (2019) The WHO-INTEGRATE evidence to decision framework version 1.0: integrating WHO norms and values and a complexity perspective. BMJ Global Health 4: e000844.

- Richard L, Torres S, Tremblay M-C, et al. (2015) An analysis of the adaptability of a professional development program in public health: results from the ALPS Study. *BMC Health Services Research* 15: 233.
- Robbins MS and Turner CW. (2019) Call for revision of Weisman and Montgomery's review of Functional Family Therapy. *Research on Social Work Practice* 29: 347-357.
- Robling M, Bekkers M-J, Bell K, et al. (2016) Effectiveness of a nurse-led intensive home-visitation programme for first-time teenage mothers (Building Blocks): a pragmatic randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet* 387: 146-155.
- Rogers EM. (2010) Diffusion of innovations. Simon and Schuster: London.
- Rutter H, Cavill N, Bauman A, et al. (2019) Systems approaches to global and national physical activity plans. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 97: 162.
- Segrott J, Holliday J, Rothwell H, et al. (2014) Cultural adaptation and intervention integrity: a response to Skärstrand, Sundell and Andréasson. *The European Journal of Public Health* 24: 354-355.
- Shiell A, Hawe P and Gold L. (2008) Complex interventions or complex systems? Implications for health economic evaluation. *BMJ* 336: 1281-1283.
- Sibony A-L. (2020) The UK COVID-19 Response: A Behavioural Irony? *European Journal of Risk Regulation*: 1-11.
- Sidani S, Fox M and El-Masri MM. (2020) Guidance for the Reporting of an Intervention's Theory. *Research and Theory for Nursing Practice* 34: 35-48.
- Skärstrand E, Sundell K and Andréasson S. (2013) Evaluation of a Swedish version of the Strengthening Families Programme. *European Journal of Public Health* 24: 578-584.
- Skivington K, Mathews L, Simpson S, et al. (Under review) Developing and Evaluating Complex Interventions: updated MRC guidance. London: MRC.
- Snilstveit B, Vojtkova M, Bhavsar A, et al. (2016) Evidence & Gap Maps: A tool for promoting evidence informed policy and strategic research agendas. *Journal of Clinical epidemiology* 79: 120-129.
- Sridhar D and Majumder MS. (2020) Modelling the pandemic. BMJ 369:m1567.
- Stirman SW, Baumann AA and Miller CJ. (2019) The FRAME: an expanded framework for reporting adaptations and modifications to evidence-based interventions. *Implementation science* 14: 58.
- Sundell K, Beelmann A, Hasson H, et al. (2016) Novel programs, international adoptions, or contextual adaptations? Meta-analytical results from German and Swedish intervention research. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology* 45: 784-796.
- The Economist. (2020) Britain's government says it is "following the science". Which science? *The Economist.*
- Tuffaha HW, Roberts S, Chaboyer W, et al. (2015) Cost-effectiveness and value of information analysis of nutritional support for preventing pressure ulcers in high-risk patients: implement now, research later. *Applied health economics and health policy* 13: 167-179.
- Villeval M, Gaborit E, Berault F, et al. (2019) Do the key functions of an intervention designed from the same specifications vary according to context? Investigating the transferability of a public health intervention in France. *Implementation science* 14: 35.
- Wang S, Moss JR and Hiller JE. (2005) Applicability and transferability of interventions in evidencebased public health. *Health Promotion International* 21: 76-83.
- Weisman CB and Montgomery P. (2019) Functional Family Therapy (FFT) for behavior disordered youth aged 10–18: An overview of reviews. *Research on social work practice* 29: 333-346.
- Westreich D, Edwards JK, Lesko CR, et al. (2017) Transportability of trial results using inverse odds of sampling weights. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 186: 1010-1014.
- Yoong S, Bolsewicz K, Grady A, et al. (2020) Adaptation of public health initiatives: expert views on current guidance and opportunities to advance their application and benefit. *Health Education Research*

Zamboni K, Schellenberg J, Hanson C, et al. (2019) Assessing scalability of an intervention: why, how and who? *Health Policy and Planning* 34: 544-552.

Figures 3 and 4 are reproduced from Kirk et al (2020) & Stirman et al (2019), which are published under a CC-BY license <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>. No alterations are made to these and their use does not imply endorsement by the original authors.

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet?title=Towards%20a%20comprehensive%20model% 20for%20understanding%20adaptations%E2%80%99%20impact%3A%20the%20model%20for%20ad aptation%20design%20and%20impact%20%28MADI%29&author=M.%20Alexis%20Kirk%20et%20al &contentID=10.1186%2Fs13012-020-01021-y&publication=1748-5908&publicationDate=2020-07-20&publisherName=SpringerNature&orderBeanReset=true&oa=CC%20BY%20%2B%20CC0

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet?title=The%20FRAME%3A%20an%20expanded%20fr amework%20for%20reporting%20adaptations%20and%20modifications%20to%20evidencebased%20interventions&author=Shannon%20Wiltsey%20Stirman%20et%20al&contentID=10.1186% 2Fs13012-019-0898-y&publication=1748-5908&publicationDate=2019-06-06&publisherName=SpringerNature&orderBeanReset=true&oa=CC%20BY%20%2B%20CC0

APPENDIX 1 - The ADAPT guidance Delphi exercise rounds 1 and 3 summary of item ratings

Response rate: Round 1 had 49% response rate (n=68/140). Round 3 had 47% response rate (n=31/66).

Tables presenting self-reported information provided by participants about their: role/expertise, country of institution, and place of employment

Self-reported role/expertise	n*
Member of research funding board	12
Representative of research funder	4
Journal editor	5
Intervention researcher	50
Quantitative researcher	39
Qualitative researcher	32
Practitioner	7
Clinician	11
Other	7

Country/continent of	n
institution	
UK	30
USA	17
Europe	8
Canada	3
South America	3
Australia	1

Place(s) of employment	n**
University	53
Public sector organisation	11
Non-profit organisation	7
For-profit organisation	1

**some reported more than one institution

*many participants reported more than one role

Experience of adaptation of interventions for implementation in new contexts was provided by 50 participants: 30 reported extensive experience, 11 reported more limited experience.

The Delphi exercise explained to participants the numerical rating categories:

- Rating 7-to-9 = **high** clarity/usefulness/validity/importance
- Rating 4-to-6 = **uncertain** clarity/usefulness/validity/importance
- Rating 1-to-3 = **low** clarity/usefulness/validity/importance

To prevent deductive disclosure, tables report % rating items as 'high', and cell counts of <=5 (or (>=(total sample-5)) are suppressed

Key terms

Adaptation	Round	Responses (n)	Median rating	Rated high (7-9)
To what extent is this understanding of adaptation clear for defining the scope of	1	68	Q	% (II) 76% (52)
the guidance?	3	31	8	81% (25)
To what extent is this understanding of adaptation useful for defining the scope of	1	68	8	76% (52)
the guidance?	3	30	7.5	70% (21)
Context				
To what extent is this understanding of context clear for defining the scope of the	1	68	8	84% (57)
guidance?	3	28	8	79% (22)
To what extent is this understanding of context useful for defining the scope of the	1	68	8	74% (49)
guidance?	3	27	8	78% (21)
Stakeholders				
To what extent is this understanding of stakeholders clear for defining the scope of	1	67	8	91% (61)
the guidance?	3	26	8	>=21
To what extent this understanding of stakeholders useful for defining the scope of	1	66	8	86% (57)
the guidance?	3	26	8	>=21

Key debates

Fidelity and adaptation	Round	Responses (n)	Median rating	Rated high (7-9) % (n)
Adapting an evidence-informed intervention always reduces intervention	1	67	3	<=5
fidelity.	3	27	3	<=5
Adapting an evidence-informed intervention can increase fidelity, by allowing	1	66	7	64% (42)
an intervention to function as intended in the new context.	3	25	7	68% (17)
Proactive and reactive adaptation				
Adaptation should be proactive, i.e. the intervention should be deliberately	1	68	6	46% (31)
changed prior to implementation in a new context	3	25	6	36% (9)
Adaptation may be reactive, i.e. changes may be allowed to occur during	1	67	7	69% (46)
implementation in a new context rather than being pre-planned	3	24	8	88% (21)
Adaptation may be undertaken by any stakeholders	1	66	5	30% (20)
	3	25	5	28% (7)
Adaptation and context				
Adaptation should be proactive, i.e. the intervention should be deliberately	1	67	7	63% (42)
changed prior to implementation in a new context	3	24	7	58% (14)

Deciding whether adaptation is required

How important are the following considerations when deciding between adapting an existing intervention or developing a new intervention?

Item	Round	Responses (n)	Median rating	Rated high (7-9) % (n)
Time saved by adapting an intervention rather than developing a new intervention	1	63	7	54% (34)
	3	26	6	42% (11)
Resources saved by adapting an intervention rather than developing a new	1	60	7	72% (43)
intervention	3	25	7	68% (17)
Higher expectation of effectiveness associated with adapting an evidence-informed	1	63	8	76% (48)
intervention rather than developing a new intervention	3	23	8	78% (18)

How important is it to do the following when selecting an evidence-informed intervention and deciding whether it needs to be adapted?

Item	Round	Responses	Median	Rated high
		(n)	rating	(7-9)
				% (n)
Define the health problem in the target population, including its prevalence,	1	64	8	89% (57)
determinants and modifiable risk factors	3	23	8	>=18
Assess what resources are available to address the problem in the new context	1	64	8	89% (56)
	3	23	8	>=18
Assess preferences of stakeholders in the new context	1	63	8	84% (53)
	3	22	8	>=18
Compare existing interventions to select the best match to the new context	1	64	8	77% (46)
	3	23	8	>=18

Item	Round	Responses	Median	Rated high
		(n)	rating	(7-9)
				% (n)
Members of the target population	1	62	9	97% (60)
	3	23	9	>=18
Percentre with experience of intervention adaption	1	61	8	82% (50)
	3	22	8	>=17
Percentre with experience of intervention evaluation	1	62	8	84% (52)
	3	22	8	>=17
Becoardbard with experience of working with the target perulation	1	62	8	77% (48)
Researchers with experience of working with the target population	3	22	8	>=17
Individuals/organisations responsible for developing the intervention in the original	1	62	6.5	51% (31)
context	3	21	6	50% (10)
Individuals/organisations responsible for delivering the intervention in the new	1	63	9	100% (63)
context	3	22	9	95% (20)
Individuals/organisations responsible for decisions about large scale	1	63	7	81% (51)
implementation post evaluation	3	21	7	85% (17)

How important is it to include the following **stakeholders** in the adaptation of an intervention for a new context?

Preparing to adapt an intervention

How important are each of the following when preparing to adapt an intervention?

Item	Round	Responses	Median	Rated high
		(n)	rating	(7-9)
				% (n)
Ensuring the adapted intervention can be delivered in the new context	1	64	9	98% (58)
	3	21	9	>=16
Engaging practitioners or others involved in the delivery of the adapted intervention	1	64	8	92% (59)
	3	21	9	>=16
Achieving adequate levels of participation in the adapted intervention	1	63	8	68% (43)
	3	19	7	63% (12)
Achieving adequate levels of diversity among participants in the adapted	1	63	7	52% (33)
intervention	3	19	6	42% (8)
Achieving adequate retention of participants in the adapted intervention	1	61	7	74% (45)
	3	20	7	70% (14)
The expected effectiveness of the adapted intervention in the new context	1	62	8	76% (47)
	3	20	8	85% (17)
The sustainability of the adapted intervention in the new context	1	61	8	90% (54)
	3	19	8	100% (19)

How important are the following processes when preparing an adaptation of an intervention?

Item	Round	Responses	Median	Rated high
		(n)	rating	(7-9)
				% (n)
Identify similarities and differences between the original and new context	1	59	8	80% (47)
	3	20	9	>=15
Assess whether aspects of the intervention theory of change need to be modified to	1	58	8	74% (43)
fit the new context	3	20	8	75% (15)
Identify potential facilitators of delivery in the new context	1	59	8	95% (56)
	3	20	8	>=15

Item	Round	Responses	Median	Rated high
		(n)	rating	(7-9)
				% (n)
Identify potential barriers to delivery in the new context	1	58	9	>=53
	3	20	9	>=15
Develop an adapted intervention model (e.g., draft manuals, intervention protocols,	1	58	9	88% (51)
delivery plan)	3	20	9	>=15
Review the new model with stakeholders and revise based on feedback	1	58	9	93% (54)
	3	20	9	>=15
Recruit individuals and organisations involved in the delivery of the intervention in	1	56	8	84% (47)
the new context	3	20	8	70% (14)
Build expertise in delivering the intervention (e.g., training of community-based	1	56	9	88% (47)
organisations, intervention implementers)	3	20	8	80% (16)

How to deliver the adapted intervention

How important are the following processes when planning how to deliver the adapted intervention in the new context?

Item	Round	Responses	Median	Rated high
		(n)	rating	(7-9)
				% (n)
Assess the feasibility of delivering the adapted intervention	1	62	8.5	>=57
	3	20	9	>=15
Revise the intervention model as necessary based on the results of the	1	61	9	>=56
feasibility study	3	19	8	>=14
Provide ongoing support and feedback to those delivering the	1	61	8	90% (55)
intervention	3	19	8	>=14
Obtain stakeholder feedback and finalise the intervention model and	1	62	8	89% (55)
the delivery plan	3	19	8	>=14
Document "reactive" adaptations during delivery	1	62	9	90% (56)
	3	19	9	>=14

Evaluating the effectiveness of the adapted intervention

How important are the following criteria in deciding the type and extent of evaluation (e.g. fully –powered effectiveness evaluation, feasibility evaluation, process evaluation, implementation evaluation) needed once the intervention has been adapted?

Item	Round	Responses	Median	Rated high
		(n)	rating	(7-9)
				% (n)
Applicability of existing effectiveness evidence to the new context	1	62	8	74% (46)
	3	20	8	>=15
Extent to which the intervention has been adapted in the new context	1	62	8.5	92% (57)
	3	19	9	>=15
Availability of resource in the new context (e.g. time, finance, evaluation	1	63	8	86% (54)
expertise)	3	19	8	>=14
The value of new evaluation evidence to decision-makers in the new context	1	63	8	73% (46)
	3	19	8	>=14

How important are the following criteria for deciding whether to implement, undertake a further cycle of adaptation and testing, or abandon an adapted intervention?

Item	Round	Responses	Median	Rated high
		(n)	rating	(7-9)
				% (n)
Acceptability of the adapted intervention to participants	1	64	9	>=59
	3	19	9	>=14
Acceptability of the adapted intervention to deliverers	1	63	8	84% (53)
	3	19	8	>=14
Feasibility of delivering the adapted intervention in the new context	1	63	8	>=58
	3	19	9	>=14
Effectiveness of the adapted intervention in the new context	1	64	8	>=58
	3	19	9	>=14
Cost effectiveness of the adapted intervention in the new context	1	63	7	78% (49)
	3	19	8	>=14

Item	Round	Responses	Median	Rated high
		(n)	rating	(7-9)
				% (n)
Establish a plan to maintain delivery of the adapted intervention in the new	1	62	8	87% (54)
context	3	19	8	>=14
Secure agreement from stakeholders	1	62	8	79% (49)
	3	19	8	>=14
Develop capacity to support long term implementation	1	61	8	89% (54)
	3	19	8	>=14
Establish a data monitoring system	1	62	8	85% (53)
	3	19	8	>=14

How important are the following processes when planning for post-evaluation implementation of an adapted intervention?

Adaptation Reporting

How important is it to do the following when reporting the adaptation and/or evaluation of an intervention?

Item	Round	Responses (n)	Median rating	Rated high (7-9) % (n)
Describe the population health problem being addressed	1	61	9	90% (55)
	3	20	9	>=15
Explain the perspective of the research team (e.g. disciplinary backgrounds and	1	63	7	51% (32)
theoretical perspective of the research team)	3	20	7	70% (14)
Explain why the intervention was adapted	1	62	9	>=57
	3	20	9	>=15
Describe the original intervention and context and report its evidence-base	1	61	8	85% (52)
	3	20	8	>=15
Describe the new context, and key similarities and differences to the original context	1	62	9	85% (53)
	3	20	9	>=15
Describe the type and extent of adaptation undertaken	1	61	9	>=56
Describe the type and extent of adaptation undertaken	3	20	9	>=15
Describe the processes undertaken to adapt the intervention, including which	1	62	9	>=56
stakeholders were involved	3	20	9	>=15
Describe the adapted intervention in detail to enable replication	1	62	9	90% (56)
	3	20	9	>=15
Describe how well the adapted intervention was delivered in the new context	1	61	8	>=56
	3	20	8	>=15
APPENDIX 2 – Mapping of Delphi consensus items onto final

recommendations

This appendix provides an overview of the linkage between Delphi survey items (which were informed by our systematic review and qualitative research) and our final recommendations. Consensus (and disagreement) on items was discussed among the study team and international advisory group, alongside findings from other work packages, in order to construct draft recommendations (which were shared and further discussed with a subset of Delphi participants at a series of online expert workshops).

Recommendations in **Section 6.1** are informed by consensus in our Delphi surveys that it was important to involve members of the following populations throughout intervention adaptation processes:

- Members of the target population
- Researchers with experience of intervention adaptation
- Researchers with experience of intervention evaluation
- Researchers with experience of working with the target population
- Individuals/organisations responsible for delivering the intervention in the new context
- Individuals/organisations responsible for decisions about large scale implementation post evaluation

Discussion of stakeholder involvement at our expert workshops centred around key issues relating to 'how' to involve these stakeholders. These included a focus on involving a diverse range of stakeholders in a meaningful way at all stages of adaptation process, power and distribution of roles in decision making, pros and cons of working with intervention developers, and the dynamic nature of stakeholder involvement.

Recommendations in **Section 6.2** are informed by the following items, on which consensus was reached in our DELPHI surveys:

Item		Recommendation
•	Define the health problem in the target population, including its prevalence, determinants and modifiable risk factors	6.2.1
•	Compare existing interventions to select the best match to the new context	6.2.2 to 6.2.4
•	Assess preferences of stakeholders in the new context	6.2.2 (& 6.1)
•	Identify similarities and differences between the original and new context	6.2.5

In addition, following discussion among the author group (and reflecting the lack of consensus on the importance of involving intervention developers), we included recommendations relating to considering intellectual property issues. Given that as discussed in Section 5, a key rationale for adapting an existing intervention is a higher perceived likelihood of an intervention working if it has previously worked elsewhere, we also recommend considering the robustness of claims to effectiveness, as well as obtaining detailed information on selected interventions and their contexts.

Recommendations in Section 6.3 are informed by the following items which our Delphi exercises reached consensus were important:

Recommendation

•	Identify potential facilitators of delivery in the new context	6.3.1
•	Identify potential barriers to delivery in the new context	6.3.1
•	Assess what resources are available to address the problem in the new context	6.3.5
•	Develop an adapted intervention model (e.g., draft manuals, intervention protocols, delivery plan)	6.3.2
•	Review the new model with stakeholders and revise based on feedback	6.3.2 (& 6.1)
•	Recruit individuals and organisations involved in the delivery of the intervention in the new context	6.3.5
•	Assess whether aspects of the intervention theory of change need to be modified to fit the new context	6.3.2 & 6.3.3

For the last item, while we used 'theory of change', we subsequently revised this to 'programme theory' for consistency with new MRC guidance for developing and evaluating complex interventions. Following discussion among the author group, we expanded consideration of programme theory to include unintended consequences due to interaction with a new context.

Recommendations in **Section 6.4** are informed by two clusters of items on which our Delphi surveys reached consensus. The first set of items below were considered important in decision making regarding what form of evaluation is likely to be required prior to full implementation.

Item	Recommendation 6.4.1
Applicability of existing effectiveness evidence to the new context	
• Extent to which the intervention has been adapted in the new context	6.4.1
• The value of new evaluation evidence to decision-makers in the new context	6.4.2
 Availability of resource in the new context (e.g. time, finance, evaluation expertise) 	6.4.3

The second set of statements focus on the process of piloting and preparing for movement to evaluation (or straight to full implementation).

Item		Recommendation
•	Assess the feasibility of delivering the adapted intervention	6.4.4
•	Revise the intervention model as necessary based on the results of the feasibility study	6.4.4
•	Obtain stakeholder feedback and finalise the intervention model and the delivery plan	6.4.4
•	Provide ongoing support and feedback to those delivering the intervention	6.4.5
•	Document "reactive" adaptations during delivery	6.4.5

In addition, we include a recommendation regarding undertaking the evaluation identified as necessary via the above processes, with signposting to sources of guidance rather than providing detail on evaluation designs. While sequentially, feasibility testing will come prior to evaluation it is helpful to first develop a good understanding of what future evaluation is warranted, and what design this would take, so that uncertainties can be identified to focus on in feasibility testing. Hence, we begin with considerations of what kind of evaluation is needed, prior to discussing feasibility testing.

Recommendations in **Section 6.5.** are informed by the following statements on which our expert panel reached consensus.

		Recommendations
•	Establish a plan to maintain delivery of the adapted intervention	6.5.1
	in the new context	
•	Secure agreement from stakeholders	6.5.1 (& 6.1)
•	Develop capacity to support long term implementation	6.5.1
•	Establish a data monitoring system	6.5.2

Some distinguish between 'scale-up' (i.e. taking an intervention to scale in the context where it was implemented) and 'scale-out' (i.e. taking an intervention to scale in a context other than where it was implemented. Once an intervention has been adapted and evaluated in the new context, distinction between scale out and scale up diminishes, and hence guidance on scale-up is relevant here (Koorts et al., 2018; Kirk et al., 2015). However, as described in Section 6.4, interventions may be implemented at scale without the need for prior evaluation where uncertainty is low. Many of the statements on which our Delphi surveys reached consensus apply as much to situations where an intervention is being implemented in its original context, or a new context. However, we highlight throughout our discussion of these considerations for interventions which have a prior evidence base to draw upon, or which may currently be in use at scale in other contexts.

Recommendations in Section 7 are informed by the following reporting items:

- Describe the population health problem being addressed
- Describe the original intervention and context and report its evidence-base
- Describe the new context, and key similarities and differences to the original context
- Explain why the intervention was adapted
- Describe the type and extent of adaptation undertaken
- Describe the processes undertaken to adapt the intervention, including which stakeholders were involved
- Describe the adapted intervention in detail to enable replication
- Describe how well the adapted intervention was delivered in the new context

There was not consensus on the need to report the background of the research team. In addition, following discussion among the research team, reflecting the limited guidance regarding how to make decisions about what type and extent of re-evaluation to undertake, we include an additional item on describing the rationale for undertaking another evaluation study (or not) prior to implementation. In addition, following our online workshops, we added a recommendation to report the role of original intervention developers within decision-making. A key additional theme within qualitative comments from our Delphi panel was the need to use existing reporting frameworks rather than starting from scratch. Before focusing on our new recommendations, we discuss existing guidance which researchers may use in reporting adaptation of interventions.